## AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

# NOVEL ANTI-BIOFILM NATURAL PRODUCTS FROM MICROORGANISMS ISOLATED FROM LEBANON

by REEM IMAD WAZNI

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science to the Department of Experimental Pathology, Immunology and Microbiology of the Faculty of Medicine at the American University of Beirut

> Beirut, Lebanon June 2020

### AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

# NOVEL ANTI-BIOFILM NATURAL PRODUCTS FROM MICROORGANISMS ISOLATED FROM LEBANON

# REEM IMAD WAZNI

Approved by: Antoine Abou Fayad, PhD, Assistant Professor Advisor Department of Experimental Pathology, Microbiology and Immunology Ghassan Matar, PhD, Professor and Chairperson Department of Experimental Pathology, Microbiology and Immunology Co-Advisor Elias Rahal, PhD, Associate Professor Member of Committee Department of Experimental Pathology, Microbiology and Immunology Michel Massaad, PhD, Assistant Professor Member of Committee Department of Experimental Pathology, Microbiology and Immunology Mireille Kallasy, PhD, Professor at (USJ) Member of Committee Departement of earth and life sciences

Date of thesis/dissertation defense: June 18, 2020

# AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT THESIS, DISSERTATION, PROJECT RELEASE FORM

Student Name:			
	_Wazni	Rim	Imad
	Last	First	Middle
Master's Thesis	O Master's Project	O Doctoral Dissertation	

I authorize the American University of Beirut to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of my thesis, dissertation, or project; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes.

I authorize the American University of Beirut, to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of it: (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University: and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes after:

One ---- year from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project.

Two ---- years from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project.

Three ---- years from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project.

June 30, 2020 Date Signature

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

My sincere gratitude goes first to my committee chair, Professor Ghassan Matar, for giving me this opportunity and privilege to be part of this program and to conduct my master's thesis project at his laboratory. My appreciation also extends to my advisor, Dr. Tony Abou Fayad, who expertly guided me and always kept me engaged with my research project through his unwavering enthusiasm for drug discovery. I genuinely thank him for his support, assistance, help, and patience. I also take this opportunity to thank the drug discovery team, particularly Ms.Ghada Derbaj and Mr. Bassel Awada, for their continuous encouragement and advice throughout this learning experience. I am so thankful for all the information you have provided me. Special thanks go to my favorite lab partners, and my dearest friends, Christelle Yammine, and Nisreen Ghanem. Thank you for all the fun and unforgettable moments that we have made through this journey. Finally, I would like to thank my beloved family for their unconditional love and for always believing in me. I couldn't have made it without their support, guidance, and motivation.

## AN ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

<u>Reem Imad Wazni</u> for <u>Master of Science</u> <u>Major</u>: Microbiology and Immunology

#### Title: Novel anti-biofilm natural products from microorganisms isolated from Lebanon

**Background:** Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is rising at an alarming pace causing a major crisis threatening public health globally. Among various mechanisms of drug resistance, bacterial biofilms, which are layers of microbial cells attached to a surface and buried firmly in an exopolysaccharide matrix, is considered a predominant one. Biofilm associated bacteria are less sensitive to antibiotics than the planktonic cells. Indeed, resistance to gentamicin and ceftazidime in Escherichia coli, tazobactam, and colistin in Klebsiella pneumonia, and ciprofloxacin in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* was related to biofilm formation. Since it is becoming increasingly clear that biofilm formation is implicated in the spread of multidrug-resistance, and conventional antibiotics are being inadequate at eradicating biofilm-forming pathogens, it is highly urgent to discover novel molecules that exhibit strong antibiofilm activity and can be combined with antibacterial agents. Fortunately, soil and marine microorganisms are potential natural sources for the isolation of natural compounds with effective biological activities. However, scarce material is found in the literature, and little research is being done about screening for antibiofilm compounds. This study aims to isolate novel antibiofilm compounds produced by environmental bacteria from several regions in Lebanon.

<u>Methods</u>: Marine and soil samples were collected from three different areas in Lebanon. Serial dilutions were done on the samples for Actinomycetes isolation. Subsequently, 30µl of each dilution were plated on ISP3 and soil agar. After purification, pure colonies were stored in 50% glycerol at -80°C. Then, these selected environmental bacteria were cultivated in 14 different culture media in order to produce secondary metabolites. The latter was then extracted via acetone/methanol and then tested for their anti-biofilm activity against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (PAN14), *Staphylococcus aureus* (N315), *Acinetobacter baumannii* (DSM 30008 & T36). Screening of the crude extracts was done in microtiter plates via two assays. The first checks extracts' potency to inhibit biofilm occurrence, whereas the other evaluates its capacity to inhibit biofilm formation after the film is established. **<u>Results</u>**: According to our findings, crude extracts derived from the marine sample TBJ13C and soil sample BM9C demonstrated a strong anti-biofilm activity against *P. Aeruginosa* (PAN14). Both extracts with their hexane and ethyl acetate fractions, respectively, showed highly effective inhibition of biofilm growth, as well as eradication of preformed ones in PAN14. Further, crude extracts produced by MM3, MM7, and MM9 also exhibited significant anti-biofilm activity in preventing biofilm formation, primarily in PAN14, as some had the ability to do so in two other models, namely, *Staphylococcus aureus* MRSA *and Acinetobacter baumannii* (T36).

**Conclusion:** Therefore, this process steps forward from a screening hit to phenotypic and biochemical characterization, anti-biofilm compound isolation, molecular characterization, and structure elucidation.

# CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
ABSTRACT	vi
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS	xii
LIST OF TABLES	xiii

# Chapter

I.	INTRODUCTION	. 1
II.	LITERATURE REVIEW	. 4
	A. General features of biofilm	. 4
	1. Characteristics of biofilm	. 4
	B. Biofilm life cycle	. 5
	<ol> <li>Adhesion/Attachment</li> <li>Production of EPS/Formation of micro-colonies</li> <li>Maturation of biofilm</li></ol>	.5 .6 .6
	C. Regulators involved in biofilm formation	. 7
	<ol> <li>Quorum sensing</li> <li>C-di-GMP</li> <li>Small non-coding RNA molecules (sRNAs)</li> </ol>	. 7 . 8 . 9
	D. Mechanisms of biofilm-associated antimicrobial resistance	. 9

1. Failure of drug penetration	9
2. Heterogeneous population and growth rate	
3. Neutralizing enzymes	
4. Biofilm-specific persister cells	
E. Biofilm-associated pathogens	
1. Pseudomonas aeruginosa	
a.Matrices of <i>P. aeruginosa</i> Biofilms	
i.Alginate (Alg)	
ii.Psl and Pel	
b.Regulation of biofilm formation in P. aeruginosa	
i.Quorum sensing (QS)	
ii.C-di-GMP	
iii.Small regulatory RNAs (sRNAs)	
2. Staphylococcus aureus	
a.Genes associated with S. aureus biofilm matrix	
b.Regulation of Biofilm Matrix in S.aureus	
1. Quorum Sensing	
11.U-d1-GMP	
111.SKNAS	
3. Acinetobacter baumannii	
a. Virulence determinants in A. Baumannii	
b.Regulation of Biolini Matrix in A. daumanni	
11.C-01-GMP	
F. Infections and diseases associated with biofilm formation	
1 Device related biofilm infections	27
<ol> <li>Device related biofilm infections</li> <li>Non-device related biofilm infections</li> </ol>	
2. Non-device related biofinin infections	
G. Anti-biofilm strategies	29
1 Anti-adhesive / Antibacterial coating to surfaces	29
2. Interference with signaling pathways	
3. Disaggregation of EPS matrix	
H. Anti-biofilm molecules mechanisms of action	
1. Ouorum sensing inhibition	
2. Inhibition of c-di-GMP signaling system	
3. Cleavage of peptidoglycan	
I. Natural derived anti-biofilm agents	34

	1. Anti-biofilm compounds derived from plant extracts or medicinal herbs	35
	2. Non-Actinomycetes marine microorganisms derived anti-biofilm compounds	37
	3. Non-Actiomycetes Soil microorganisms derived anti-biofilm compounds	39
J	I. Actinobacteria / Streptomyces derived anti-biofilm compounds	40
	1. Characteristics of Actinobacteria	40
	2. Characteristics of Streptomyces	41
	3. Anti-biofilm activity of soil actinobacterial compounds	41
	4. Anti-biofilm activity of marine actinobacterial compounds	42
]	K. Combinatorial therapy	44
III.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	. 46
1	A. Collection of soil/marine samples	46
]	B. Bacterial isolation	46
(	C. Secondary metabolites extraction	47
1	D. Screening for antibacterial activity on ESKAPE pathogens	48
I	E. Screening for anti-biofilm activity	48
	1. Pseudomonas aeruginosa (PAN14)	49
	a.IF Protocol:	49
	b.PF Protocol	50
	2. Acinetobacter baumannii ( DSM & T36 )	51
	a.IF protocol	51
	b.PF protocol	52
	3. Staphylococcus aureus MRSA	53
	a.IF Protocol	53
	b.PF Protocol	54
I	F. Bio-active molecule purification	55
	1. Upscale metabolite production	55
	2. Liquid/ Liquid partitioning	56
	3. Thin Layer Chromatography (TLC)	56
	4. Column chromatography and fractionation	57
(	G. DNA extraction of bacterial isolates	57

H.	16S rRNA gene amplification and sequencing	. 58
I.	Statistical analysis	. 59
IV.	RESULTS	63
A.	Antibacterial activity screening	. 63
B.	Anti-biofilm activity screening	. 66
C.	Anti-biofilm activity of upscaled fractions	. 75
D.	Genomic Characterization	. 79
	<ol> <li>DNA extraction</li> <li>16S rRNA Sequencing</li> </ol>	. 79 . 80
V.	DISCUSSION	83
	BIBLIOGRAPHY	88

# **ILLUSTRATIONS**

FigurePage
1. Biofilm development steps produced by microorganisms7
2. Antibiotic resistance associate to biofilm
3. Structure of alginate polysaccharide
4. Structure of Psl polysaccharide15
5. Interactions between quorum sensing systems of <i>P. aeruginosa</i> 17
6. Schematic presentation of physiological functions of c-di-GMP18
7. The GAC system network in <i>P. aeruginosa</i> 19
8. Schematic of the <i>S. aureus</i> accessory gene regulatory (Agr) system
9. Illustration of a quorum-sensing mechanism in <i>A. baumannii</i>
10. Anti-biofilm strategies to combat biofilms
11. Schematic representation of overview of the targets of anti-biofilm molecules
12. N-(heptylsulfanylacetyl)-l-homoserine lactone (A) and Quercetin (B) structures
13. Anti-biofilm agents derived from natural plants and its potential mechanisms
14. Structures of bromoageliferin and oroidin
15. Bromoageliferin analogs
16. Cahuitamycin C (A) and Streptorubin B (B) structures42
17. Butenolide structure
18. PCR steps

19. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 treated with BM9-derived extracts produced
in 14 different production media67
20. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 treated with TBJ13-derived extracts produced
in 14 different production media
21. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 and ACN T36 treated with MM3-derived
extracts produced in 14 different production media70
22. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 and ACN T36 treated with MM4-derived
extracts produced in 14 different production media71
23. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 and ACN DSM treated with MM7-derived
extracts produced in 14 different production media72
24. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14, ACN DSM, ACN T36 and MRSA treated by
MM9-derived extract produced in 14 different production media75
25. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 treated by BM9C-derived extract76
26. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14, ACN DSM, ACN T36, and MRSA treated by
TBJ13C-derived extract

# TABLES

TablePage
1. Production media recipes
2. Brand names of different materials used
3. Table depicting the number of wells with inhibition for crude extracts produced by strains
TBJ13, MM3, MM5, MM6, MM7, and MM18 in 14 different media against a panel of
ESKAPE
4. Table depicting the number of wells with inhibition for crude extracts produced by strain
BM9 in 14 different media against a panel of ESKAPE pathogens
5. Table depicting the number of wells with inhibition for crude extracts produced by strain
MM9 in 14 different media against a panel of ESKAPE pathogens65
6. Table depicting the number of wells with inhibition for crude extracts produced by strain
MM15 in 14 different media against a panel of ESKAPE pathogens65
7. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 treated with BM9-derived extracts produced in
14 different production media
8. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 treated with TBJ 13-derived extracts produced
in 14 different production media67
9. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 and ACN T36 treated with MM3-derived
extracts produced in 14 different production media
10. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 and ACN T36 treated with MM4-derived
extracts produced in 14 different production media71

11. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 and ACN DSM treated with MM7-derived
extracts produced in 14 different production media72
12. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14, ACN T36, ACN DSM, MRSA treated with
MM9-derived extracts produced in 14 different production media
13. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 treated by BM9C-dervied extract70
14. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14, ACN DSM, ACN T36, and MRSA treated by
TBJ13C-derived extract7
15. DNA extraction of MM3, MM4, MM7, and MM9 strains79
16. Description and Percent identity of MM3, MM4, MM7, MM9, BM9, and TBJ13
according to BLAST

### CHAPTER I

### INTRODUCTION

"There is no time to wait. Unless the world acts urgently, antimicrobial resistance will have disastrous impact within a generation," said the Interagency Coordination Center of the World Health Organization (WHO) in a recently published report on antimicrobial resistance (AMR) [1]. AMR, a complex global challenge that has emerged as one of the main public health crisis, has been the focus of research carried out over the past two decades [2]. This growing issue of resistance has been placed at the top of the health challenges list of the 21st century, as it substantially contributed to a wide range of unsalvageable microbial infections that were once easy to treat [3][4]. According to the " Antibiotic Resistance Threats in the United States, 2019" report, recently released by the Center of Disease Control (CDC), more than 35,000 people are dying each year in the US as a result of antibiotic-resistant infections out of the approximated 2.8 million who are getting severely infected [5]. Further, failure to tackle this significant healthcare problem, the mortality rate is estimated to reach 10 million deaths per year as of 2050[1]. In order to combat this growing concern, it is highly crucial to discover novel classes of antimicrobial agents acting on previously unexploited targets; however, to date, researchers are continually struggling to identify new ones.

Antibiotics have evolved naturally over millions of years as a competitive survival strategy among microorganisms. Their introduction to human medicine in the 1940s is thought of as one of the most significant medical advances [6]. Undoubtedly, these wonder drugs were considered as a magic bullet in the war of infection treatment, as they selectively attack microbial pathogens without affecting the host, thus saving millions of lives [7]. Despite this success, antibiotic resistance subsequently evolved as a mechanism of adaptation to antibiotic exposure resulting in drug inefficiency [6]. Ever since, uncertainty has arisen, as most pathogenic microbes have become resistant to common conventional antimicrobial drugs, hence, increasing morbidity and mortality rates worldwide [8]. The majority of these pathogenic bacteria were seen to exist in biofilm form, a predominant lifemode of most bacterial species[9]. Moreover, it has been likely that the matrix of the biofilm acts as a protective screen that provides a mechanical and biochemical defense, therefore creating additional bacterial tolerance to antimicrobial agents[10]. In this regard, studies have reported biofilm formation as a potent drug-resistant mechanism, adding it to the known classical ones mainly including, non-judicial use of antibiotics, active drug efflux, target site modification, and drug inactivation [11].

More importantly, over several years of research, accumulated evidence demonstrated that the advent of biofilm formation added significantly to the impact of infectious diseases[12]. According to the National Institution of Health (NIH) estimates, 80 % of the chronic infections are associated with the biofilm mode of growth [13]. Since these infections tend to be localized, persistent, and recurrent, 17 million new biofilmassociated infections occur every year in the United States, resulting in the death of 550,000 people[14] [13]. What is certain the most, is that this type of infection is usually difficult to treat as bacteria organized in a biofilm can highly withstand the host's immune system, thus, preventing its function in eliminating biofilm-embedded cells[15]. Further, knowing that the currently available antibacterial agents are only designated to target planktonic bacteria, the treatment of these persistent infections has become significantly challenging [16]. Therefore, this surge in biofilm-associated infections coupled with the multi-drug resistance calls for the discovery of novel anti-biofilm compounds that can effectively regulate and eradicate biofilm formation.

Up to now, a plethora of potential anti-biofilm agents inspired by natural products have been identified; however, due to their high toxicity levels, none of these agents is available in the market to date [17]. In the Department of Experimental Pathology, Immunology and Microbiology at AUB, previous work dealt with assessment of a number of anti-biofilm products on biofilm formation was done[18][19][20][21]. In this study, we aim to discover new novel anti-biofilm compounds isolated from soil and marine samples, rich sources of antimicrobial metabolites, in hopes that they would be less toxic and exhibit a higher potency in inhibiting biofilm formation and growth as well as disrupting performed ones.

3

### CHAPTER II

### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### A. General features of biofilm

Biofilm can be found widely in nature. It is the predominant mode of growth for most bacteria in industry, aquaculture, the human body, as well as in-hospital niches [22]. A commonly used definition of bacterial biofilm is a highly structured community of sessile microbial cells, permanently bound to an interface or other cells, and firmly attached to a protective self-produced extracellular matrix (ECM) [23]. This adhesive matrix, which is mainly composed of exopolysaccharides (EPS), extracellular DNA (eDNA), and proteins, provides strength to the interaction of the microbial aggregates in the biofilm, thus acting as a stabilizing scaffold for the three-dimensional biofilm structure[24][25]. Indeed, the EPS matrix accounts for over 90% of the dry mass of a biofilm[24].

#### 1. Characteristics of biofilm

In its biofilm form, bacteria show a highly elevated pattern of adaptive resistance to antibiotics, display resistance against the host immune system, and survive in unfavorable environmental conditions[24][26]. Besides the fact that the EPS matrix protects constituent cells from external aggressions, which is one possible reason for the increased resistance, some bacterial cells within the biofilm, often referred to as persister cells, exhibit antibiotic tolerance and significantly compromise the efficacy of currently available drugs[14] [27]. Subsequently, biofilms have been proved to be more than 1000fold resistant to treatment with conventional antibiotics, normally used to treat planktonic cells[28]. In a microbial biofilm, the phenotypic switch from a planktonic lifestyle to a sedentary biofilm phase requires the coordinated regulation of numerous environmental and genetic factors[29]. As the cell density increases, most biofilm cells are likely to encounter nutrient and oxygen limitation as well as higher levels of waste products and secondary metabolites[30]. Consequently, this nutritional restriction along with oxygen and electron acceptors reduction, can result in physiological and genetic heterogeneity of sessile cells[31]. Owing to these properties, this mode of growth poses great challenges and render biofilm as one of the primary sources of chronic and persistent infections[22].

#### **B.** Biofilm life cycle

Since biofilm formation was recognized as a complex developmental process and considered as an essential virulence factor for many pathogens, its components and mechanistic details have attracted considerable attention in research over the past decade[32]. Indeed, biofilm formation generally occurs in four necessary steps (Figure 1).

#### 1. Adhesion/Attachment

The first step of this process involves the adherence and attachment of bacterial free-floating cells, to a biomaterial or epithelial surface [19][33]. Upon intercepting the surface, these cells are mediated by several forces, mainly including hydrophobic interactions, protein adhesion, electrostatic interactions, and Van der Waal forces [23][26]. Following that, microbial cells attach reversibly to the surface through appendages like

fimbriae, pili, and flagella, with the help of specific surface-associated proteins such as OmpA, fibronectin-binding proteins, protein A, and biofilm-associated protein (BAP) [23] [33].

#### 2. Production of EPS/Formation of micro-colonies

Once motile cells excrete the extracellular polymeric substance (EPS), they become more firmly attached and subsequently irreversibly immobilized on surfaces [12]. Through particular chemical signaling within the EPS, a process of multiplication starts, as motile cells develop into micro-colonies[33].

#### 3. Maturation of biofilm

Subsequently and in optimal growth conditions, aggregated cells develop into multi-layered clusters, and undergo maturation forming a complex architecture of biofilm with water channels equipped to aid the flow of oxygen and nutrients into the matrix[34]. Moreover, this step requires the communication of microbial cells with one another through auto-inducer signals, resulting in the expression of specific biofilm genes[12].

#### 4. Detachment and dispersion

In the final stage of development, as the biofilm reaches a specific critical mass, detachment and dispersion of planktonic cells take place, where they become ready to colonize new areas and reinitiate the biofilm-lifecycle[23].



Figure 1. Biofilm development steps produced by microorganisms [31]

#### C. Regulators involved in biofilm formation

It is believed that a deeper understanding of the regulatory mechanisms involved in biofilm formation may ultimately provide insights into identifying alternative therapeutic interventions to control and prevent bacterial infections. From among the latter, quorum sensing (QS), bis-(3'-5')-cyclic di-guanosine monophosphate (c-di-GMP), and small RNAs (sRNAs) are the three primary regulators that have been the subject of intensive investigations, in research, in the past years [35].

#### 1. Quorum sensing

Quorum sensing (QS), a cell-to-cell communication system, is an intercellular signal used as a specific language among sessile aggregates[35]. It is a cell density-dependent phenomenon, in which upon its increase, fluctuation in gene expressions occur, including those encoding production of virulence and pathogenesis factors[36]. This system has received much attention in research as it participates in the regulation of biofilm formation, particularly during the maturation and dispersal phases [35]. Typically in QS, bacteria produce, detect, and release small self- generated signal molecules called

auto-inducers (AIs). N-acyl homoserine lactone (AHL) and auto-inducing peptide (AIP) are two common auto-inducers used by Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria, respectively[37]. Further, autoinducer-2 (AI-2) is another signaling molecule, which is used by both types of bacteria for interspecies communication[13] [37].

#### 2. C-di-GMP

Bis-(3'-5')-cyclic dimeric guanosine monophosphate (C-di-GMP) is a ubiquitous intracellular second messenger that is primarily involved in the molecular transition between motile planktonic and sedentary-bacterial lifestyle[35]. According to recent discoveries, c-di-GMP plays a crucial role in stimulating the biosynthesis of adhesins and exopolysaccharide mediated biofilm formation, secretion of extracellular (eDNA), as well as controlling motility and virulence of planktonic cells [22]. Indeed, levels of c-di-GMP signaling in bacteria are regulated by the opposite activity of two enzymes, the diguanylate cyclases (DGCs) with a GGDEF domain and c-di-GMP phosphodiesterases (PDEs)[38]. These enzymes that respectively catalyze the formation and degradation of c-di-GMP have three protein domains named GGDEF, EAL, and HD-GYP, which are almost found in most bacterial species[39]. Further, c-di-GMP is known to be a central regulator of biofilm formation in almost all Gram-negative bacteria investigated to date and in some Grampositive bacteria[40].

#### 3. Small non-coding RNA molecules (sRNAs)

Small non-coding RNA (sRNAs) molecules are also vital regulators that have an imperative role in the bacterial biofilm formation process[41]. They significantly participate in the regulation of bacterial physiological behavior, where they control the switch between planktonic and sessile mode[41]. Small RNAs are ultimately advantageous for pathogens in adaptation and modification of the host immune response[41]. Besides, they are involved in virulence bacterial gene expression, adaptation to stress, as well as microbial pathogenicity [35]. Understanding the mechanisms that are adopted by such molecules is highly critical; however, studies pointing to the function of sRNA in the biofilm life cycle are limited, thereby, further research is required[42].

#### D. Mechanisms of biofilm-associated antimicrobial resistance

Knowledge of the genetic and molecular mechanisms of antibiotic resistance in biofilm formation is of great necessity for a rational design of anti-biofilm strategies. Since it seemed that the root of the antimicrobial resistance in biofilms is not related to the known familiar resistance mechanisms, four hypotheses have been proposed to explain the possible underlying mechanisms (Figure 2).

#### 1. Failure of drug penetration

The first hypothesis involves the glycocalyx or exopolysaccharide matrix that may aid in the slow or incomplete penetration of antimicrobial agents [30][43]. The EPS matrix mainly functions in regulating biofilm growth and support pathogenic bacteria to survive in extreme adverse host conditions [26] [39]. Its physical and chemical structure, as well as its high viscosity, has been significantly associated with the drug diffusion delay through the biofilm matrix[44]. According to some reported studies, one reason to explain this reduced penetration is the ionic binding between specific positively charged antimicrobial agents with negatively charged slime layer substances[45]. Although this hypothesis has been considered a vital resistance mechanism, it does not seem to be a predominant one, as recent evidence indicates that EPS is probably an efficient initial barrier to some types of agents such as small antimicrobial peptides but not to all antimicrobials [30][46].

#### 2. Heterogeneous population and growth rate

Typically, biofilm communities consist of heterogeneous cellular populations that vary in their growth rates [44]. Within a biofilm, some internally localized cells are expected to experience nutrients and oxygen limitations or accumulation of deleterious metabolic products, which can hinder their multiplication [47]. Consequently, it has been shown that following a decreasing gradient in nutrients and oxygen, the cells in the periphery region of the biofilm are metabolically active and proliferate normally; however, inside niches, cells are inactive, slowly growing, and enter a dormant state[30]. More importantly, this physiological change minimizes the sensitivity of the dormant variants to antimicrobial agents that generally used to kill the metabolically active cells[47]. Further, under anaerobic conditions, bacterial cells inside biofilm express specific genes that result in increasing the level of resistance against antibiotics [30][48].

10

#### 3. Neutralizing enzymes

While slow growth and heterogeneity may explain a great deal of the antimicrobial resistance properties of biofilms, other factors may also play a role. One such feature is the presence of neutralizing enzymes in the biofilm matrix that can degrade or inactivate trapped antimicrobial molecules[47]. Typically, these mainly proteinic enzymes accumulate in the EPS matrix and reduce the biofilm infiltration of antimicrobial agents, thereby preventing them from reaching their cellular targets[24]. Indeed, such enzymes confer resistance to antimicrobials by multiple biochemical mechanisms including hydrolysis or modification [47].

#### 4. Biofilm-specific persister cells

The fourth hypothesis to explain the reduced biofilm susceptibility to biocides concerns the phenomenon of persistence by bacterial communities. Unlike the resistant cells, persister cells are dormant variants that do not grow in the presence of antibiotics[43]. Paradoxically, these cells exhibit a high tolerance to antibiotics, as they survive a lethal dose of antimicrobial agents that can normally kill a bulk of metabolically active bacterial cells [49]. Because persister cells can spontaneously shift out of their quiescent state and reinduce the growth of bacterial biofilm, once antibiotic concentration drops, they have been considered as the main culprit for reactivating chronic infections [49]. Moreover, this antibiotic tolerance was observed to occur in a majority of biofilm-associated pathogens, especially *Escherichia coli, Pseudomonas aeruginosa,* and *Staphylococcus aureus*[50][51].

11

Even though the discovery of these cells is not recent, their study is still in its infancy[49]. Hence, a deeper understanding of their mechanism of formation is highly crucial to prevent biofilm-associated infections effectively [52].

According to several studies, the functioning of each of these mechanisms alone partially accounts for the increased antimicrobial recalcitrance in biofilm; however, the amalgamation of these defenses helps to ensure the survival of biofilm cells in the face of even the most aggressive antimicrobial treatment regimen[44].



#### ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE ASSOCIATED TO BIOFILMS

Figure 2. Antibiotic resistance associate to biofilm [44]

#### E. Biofilm-associated pathogens

It is now realized that nearly all bacterial species, including clinically relevant microorganisms, live in a biofilm state [35]. Indeed, 99% of bacteria in nature would be under this form[53]. By using multiple models of biofilm infections, several microbes that utilize biofilm formation were identified in the last three decades [32]. Amongst them,

*Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Staphylococcus aureus,* and *Acinetobacter baumannii* have been, and still to date, drawing considerable interest for researchers due to their involvement in the most complicated clinical infections[54][55][56].

#### 1. Pseudomonas aeruginosa

*P. aeruginosa* is a gram-negative, non-lactose fermenting, motile, and aerobic bacterium that has turned out to be among the most virulent of opportunistic human pathogens[54]. This organism is particularly notorious for causing devastating chronic infections in immunocompromised and hospitalized individuals, leading to severe symptoms and, in many cases, death [31][35]. It is mainly associated with chronic infections of lungs in cystic fibrosis patients, as well as chronic urinary tract infections, ventilator-associated pneumonia, and chronic wounds[57]. According to the CDC, 32,600 infections among hospitalized patients and 2,700 estimated deaths in the United States were caused by multidrug-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in 2017[5]. Due to that, and to the fact that *P. aeruginosa* is an avid biofilm former, this pathogen has been the key subject of biofilm studies and has received the most attention as a model organism in research [32].

#### a. Matrices of *P. aeruginosa* Biofilms

In *P. aeruginosa*, biofilm formation can be initiated through the adhesive action of several components, including flagella, type IV pili, fimbria, extracellular DNA, and Psl polysaccharide[25][55]–[58]. During biofilm formation, the majority of these factors

13

facilitate the transport and attachment of the motile P. aeruginosa to surfaces[32]. For maintaining structural integrity and antibiotic resistance of biofilm, *P. aeruginosa* produces at least three exopolysaccharides: the mannose- rich Psl polysaccharide, the glucose-rich Pel polysaccharide, and alginate [54][35]. Further, these components, together with eDNA, determine the biofilm architecture[62].

#### i. Alginate (Alg)

Alginate, a linear polysaccharide composed of D-mannuronic acid and Lglucuronic acid residues, predominantly constitutes the EPS matrix of biofilms conferring a mucoid phenotype (Figure 3) [41]. In a biofilm, alginate plays an essential role in structural stability, protection, as well as in water and nutrients retention [63]. Since it mediates biofilm antibiotic resistance and suppresses host immune response, alginate was found to be a hallmark of *P. aeruginosa* chronic infection, particularly in the lung infections of CF patients [35].





#### ii. Psl and Pel

Since Psl and Pel are two main polysaccharides that comprise a major component of the biofilm matrix, they are potential targets for the control and possible eradication of biofilms formed by *P. aeruginosa*[64]. As it has been recently elucidated, Psl is a cell surface exopolysaccharide that appears to contain a repeating pentasaccharide composed of D-mannose, L-rhamnose, and D-glucose residues (Figure 4)[61]. It is a key element at the early stage of biofilm formation, where it promotes the initial surface adhesion and attachment process of sessile cells[61]. Besides its function as a structural scaffold, Psl can provide an instant protective role against anti-biofilm agents as well as a broad spectrum of conventional antibiotics, providing a survival advantage during pathogenesis[65].

Similar to Psl, Pel is a primary matrix structural polysaccharides in non-mucoid *P. aeruginosa* that initiates cell-cell interaction and maintain biofilm structure[62]. It interacts with extracellular DNA in the biofilm matrix and protects bacteria against antibiotics, particularly aminoglycosides[62]. Pel biochemical composition has not been clarified yet, but according to previous evidence, it is mainly composed of cationic exopolysaccharides[63].



Figure 4. Structure of Psl polysaccharide [60]

#### b. <u>Regulation of biofilm formation in P. aeruginosa</u>

#### i. Quorum sensing (QS)

Recent findings have shown that the QS network, a complicated system in P. *aeruginosa*, is highly capable of countering adverse environmental changes[66]. It provides the pathogen with flexibility in the control of virulence gene expression as well as a variety of biological processes important for their growth and survival[66]. Generally, P. aeruginosa comprises two primary N-acyl homoserine lactone (AHL)-dependent QS based systems, the LasI/LasR, and RhII/RhIR [67]. Besides that, it also contains a third intercellular system known as Pseudomonas quinolone signal (PQS) [67]. Both of the AHL systems comprise a gene encoding an auto-inducer, *lasI*, that is responsible for the synthesis of N-(3-oxododecanoyl)-L-homoserine lactone (3-oxo-C12-HSL) and *rhl1* that is required for the production of N-butanoyl homoserine lactone [35]. In the PQS system, 2-heptyl-3-hydroxy-4-quinolone is known to be the sensing factor[68]. Further, one of the characteristics of these three systems is that they are interconnected in hierarchical order with LasR regulating the Rhl and Pqs systems (Figure 5) [67]. For the formation and persistence of *P. aeruginosa* biofilms, QS directs the production of essential biofilm factors [10]. Among these QS-regulated factors are rhamnolipids, the biosurfactant amphipathic glycolipids that are involved in maintaining the channels in a mushroomshaped structure, along with the proper distribution of the nutrients and oxygen[69]. Indeed, QS regulates the production of the extracellular DNA that is associated with the stability of *P. aeruginosa*, as well as the antimicrobial resistance exhibited by the biofilms[66].



Figure 5. Interactions between quorum sensing systems of *P. aeruginosa* [145]

Blue arrows represent an activation effect. The blue perpendicular line represents an inhibitory effect. Black arrows represent virulence factor outputs (black box) and functions in biofilm development (blue box).

#### ii. <u>C-di-GMP</u>

Secondary messenger (c-di-GMP) is also an essential regulator that governs biofilm formation in *P* .*aeruginosa*. Typically, high intracellular levels of c-di-GMP positively regulate the synthesis of EPS matrix polysaccharides and adhesins, enabling bacteria to form biofilm[35][39]. However, low levels of this molecule downregulate the production of these components, enhance bacterial motility, and subsequently induce biofilm dispersal[57]. Principally, regulating the level of c-di-GMP signaling in bacteria is modulated by the enzymes DGCs with a GGDEF domain and PDEs (Figure 6) [57]. Since these two enzymes contain specific sensory domains, they are thought to enable the bacteria to respond to adverse environmental factors and adjust their production of biofilm matrix components[38]. Further, in *P. aeruginosa*, four c-di-GMP effectors are present, including PelD, FimX, Alg44, and FleQ [35]. PelD, FimX, and Alg44 are known to regulate exopolysaccharide components, whereas FleQ regulates flagella biosynthesis[22].



Figure 6. Schematic presentation of physiological functions of c-di-GMP [18]

#### iii. Small regulatory RNAs (sRNAs)

In addition to the AHL and PQS systems, *P. aeruginosa* controls its state and the production of multiple virulence factors via sRNA molecules[35]. Among the vast number of sRNAs expressed in *P. aeruginosa*, RsmY, and RsmZ are the best-known ones[35]. RsmY and RsmZ are mainly activated by the GacA/GacS system network via the phosphorylation of GacA by GacS (Figure 7) [69]. Of this regulatory pathway, RsmA, an effector protein, negatively controls biofilm formation and inhibits the transcription of proteins associated with Psl polysaccharide biosynthesis[66]. In *P. aeruginosa*, RsmY and RsmZ counteract RsmA translational repression activity, leading to Psl exopolysaccharide

production, and thereby initiating biofilm formation[42]. Indeed, RsmY and RsmZ were found to be involved in the switch from the planktonic to the sessile mode of growth[66].



Figure 7. The GAC system network in *P. aeruginosa* [69]

#### 2. Staphylococcus aureus

*Staphylococcus aureus*, including methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA), is one of the most critical biofilm-forming pathogens that potentially cause life-threatening chronic infections [35][34]. Clinically, these ubiquitous bacterial species are the leading cause of nosocomial and hospital-acquired infections[70]. Further, it has the propensity to cause a long list of community-onset infections such as osteomyelitis, endocarditis, chronic wound infection, chronic rhinosinusitis, periodontitis, and ocular infections [35][70]. Since these biofilm-associated infections resist innate and adaptive immune defense mechanisms as well as classical antimicrobial agents, its treatment and prevention are limited to surgical

interventions, the addition of antimicrobial agents to indwelling-medical devices or administration of stringent antibiotic combination therapies[71]. Owing to the escalating involvement of *S. aureus* in biofilm formation, its exhibition of multiple-antibiotic resistance, and their tendency to transform from an acute infection to one that is persistent, chronic, and recurrent, this pathogen continues to receive substantial attention.

#### a. Genes associated with S. aureus biofilm matrix

In reality, the S. aureus biofilm life cycle follows the typical scheme of any other biofilm-forming pathogen. In its biofilm form, S. aureus is rooted within a glycocalyx or slime layer composed primarily of 80% teichoic acid as well as staphylococcal and host proteins[34]. The polysaccharide intercellular antigen (PIA), which is mainly composed of b-1,6-linked N-acetylglucosamine polymer and eDNA, exhibits an essential role in the formation of the matrix [34][72]. Its synthesis, export, and modification are mediated by the proteins encoded in the *ica* locus (*IcaADBC*) [73][74]. Principally, the expression of these four genes is regulated by the global regulators SarA and sigmaB, and the negative regulator IcaR [55][75][76]. The latter is up or downregulated by the global regulator of the stress response (Spx), and the protein regulator of biofilm formation (Rbf), respectively [77] [78]. Despite the *ica* gene locus's importance in biofilm development, biofilm formation by MRSA, a major human pathogen, was unaffected by *icaADBC* operon-deletion[79]. Interestingly, its biofilm formation was mediated through cell-to-cell aggregation and biofilm-associated protein (Bap) independent of PIA production[80]. Moreover, eDNA, the most lately identified and appreciated biofilm matrix component, has

20

also been indicated as a factor generally involved in the cell attachment stage and structural integrity, thus enhancing biofilm formation[81]. Other than these imperative components, in *S. aureus*, several surface proteins have also been implicated as essential factors in the attachment and biofilm matrix development including, *S. aureus* surface protein G (SasG), fibronectin-binding proteins (FnBPA and FnBPB), biofilm-associated protein (Bap), extracellular matrix binding protein (Embp), and staphylococcal protein A [80][82][83][84][85].

#### b. <u>Regulation of Biofilm Matrix in S. aureus</u>

#### i. Quorum Sensing

In staphylococci, the quorum sensing system is encoded by the accessory gene regulator (Agr) locus[31]. This locus contains *agrA*, *agrC*, *agrD*, and *agrB* genes, along with the intercellular effector of the system RNAIII [32]. Upon the detection of an autoinducing peptide (AIP), which is formed by the modification of AgrD by AgrB, Agr system activation takes place and subsequently stimulates the transcription of RNAIII (Figure 8) [35]. Indeed, *S. aureus* QS has been shown to regulate the virulence state of the cell[35]. It downregulates the genes of the cell wall-associated adherence proteins such as MSCRAMMs, as well as it positively regulates the synthesis of surfactants, including detergent-like peptides, nucleases, and proteases aiding in biofilm detachment[32]. Therefore, the activation of the Arg system results in switching from the biofilm mode of growth back to the planktonic state [32].


Figure 8. Schematic of the S. aureus accessory gene regulatory (Agr) system [146].

# ii. <u>C-di-GMP</u>

In *S. aureus,* the C-di-GMP mechanism of action in biofilm regulation is still not well understood[86]. However, due to previous studies, it was reported that C-di-GMP could inhibit the cell-to-cell (intercellular) adhesive interactions and biofilm formation, thereby acting as a potential biofilm blocker[86].

# iii. sRNAs

Small RNAs expression is modulated by RNAIII and contributes to *S. aureus* virulence[35]. In S. aureus, 250 sRNA genes were discovered; however, studies are still lagging, as their functions and mechanisms are mostly unknown[35].

## 3. Acinetobacter baumannii

Acinetobacter baumannii one of the most troublesome and opportunistic microorganisms, has emerged as a multi-drug resistant (MDR) pathogen posing a great threat for healthcare institutions globally [87]–[89]. This nosocomial pathogen, referred to as "Iraqibacter," has become a primary cause for concern in conflict zones, where a high incidence of problematic severe infections was noted among soldiers during the Iraq and Afghanistan war-zone medical facilities[88]. Unfortunately, this non-motile, aerobic, nonfermentative, and Gram-negative coccobacillus is notorious for its ability to survive in a variety of environmental conditions, particularly hospital environments and medical devices [85][87]. Its outstanding survival capability, along with its exceptional acquisition of antibiotic resistance, has been strongly associated with its ability to form biofilm [90]. Additionally, A. baumanii has been associated with a wide range of infections including bacteremia, ventilator-associated pneumonia (VAP), pneumonia, endocarditis, skin infections, wound infection, urinary tract infection, and meningitis as well as an exceedingly increased resistance to almost all known antibiotics [87]–[89]. Undoubtedly, this pathogen propelled the interest in the scientific community, as it created incomparable challenges and ignited epidemics that threatened public health, especially in immunocompromised individuals that have experienced a prolonged hospital stay[88]. According to the CDC AR threat report, the estimated cases of Carbapenem-resistant Acinetobacter in hospitalized patients has fluctuated between 11,700 and 8,500 cases from the year 2012 to 2017 in the United States, respectively [5]. Although the number of

infections significantly decreased, the optimal treatment for *A. baumannii* infections remains to be established.

## a. Virulence determinants in A. Baumannii

Despite the intensive research that focused on the virulence potential of this emerging pathogen, little is still known about its true pathogenic potency[10]. In fact, *A*. *baumannii* harbors a group of biofilm-related virulence genes and proteins that are believed to influence biofilm formation such as outer membrane protein A (OmpA), biofilmassociated protein (Bap), beta-lactamase PER-1, the CsuA/BABCDE chaperone-usher pili assembly system, and poly- $\beta$ -(1,6)-N-acetyl glucosamine (PNAG) [91].

OmpA, a major porin of *A. baumannii*, has been shown to contribute in antimicrobial resistance and biofilm formation of *A. baumannii*[91]. It's involved in the adhesion of *A.baumannii* on both abiotic and biotic surfaces, as it can attach and invade the host epithelial cells and subsequently translocate to the mitochondria, thereby inducing mitochondrial dysfunction [91][92]. Additionally, bap and the pili assembly system play a crucial role in controlling biofilm formation in *A. baumannii*[88]. Both factors have been determined to facilitate the initiation stage of biofilm formation as well as its maturation[92]. Furthermore, the presence and expression of the beta-lactamase blaPER-1 gene mainly participate in the biofilm formation and attachment of *A. baumannii* [88]. Lastly, poly- $\beta$ -(1,6)-N-acetyl glucosamine (PNAG), which is encoded by *pga*ABCD gene cluster, has been observed to involve in biofilm formation, virulence, immune evasion, and antibiotic resistance[93].

#### b. Regulation of Biofilm Matrix in A. baumannii

# i. Quorum sensing

QS system plays a critical role in *A. baumannii*'s physiology. This AHL-based system depends on a single LuxIR system (AbaI/R), where AbaI functions as the AHL synthase and AbaR as the AHL receptor (Figure 9) [10]. In this pathogen, AHL molecules control virulence factors, including biofilm formation and surface motility [56]. Their synthesis and transport are mainly regulated by an AdeFGH efflux pump[94]. Among the clinical isolates of *Acinetobacter* spp, it was found that biofilm formation is under the regulation of the auto-inducer synthase gene, *abaI* [95]. Further, studies provided some insights into the role of the *bfmS* and *bfmR* gene in *A. baumannii* pathogenesis by showing that the up-regulation of the expression of these genes influences *A.baummanii*'s ability to form biofilm on abiotic surfaces[88]. Interestingly, *A. baumannii* was also shown to produce a quorum quenching enzyme designated AidA [96]. This enzyme, upon its activation, may interfere with QS key steps and inhibit its regulated behavior, thereby blocking biofilm formation and preventing microbial infections[96]. Besides the little

information reported about the genes associated with the QS network in *A. baumannii*, the quorum quenching mechanism is also not well known, up to now [96].

# ii. C-di-GMP

Few studies have reported the function of c-di-GMP signaling in the regulation of biofilm formation by *A. baumannii* [10]. In one of these studies, it was found that high concentrations of c-di-GMP promote biofilm formation in *A. baumannii*[56]. In contrast, low levels contribute to producing motility factors that inhibit bacterial adhesion and thereby prevent biofilm development[56]. Due to the lack of information regarding this regulator, the effect of c-di-GMP on *A. baumannii* biofilm requires more profound studies[56].



Figure 9. Illustration of a quorum-sensing mechanism in A. baumannii [147]

#### F. Infections and diseases associated with biofilm formation

Biofilm formation has been confirmed to be the root of the majority of persistent bacterial infections and a wide range of human diseases[24]. Indeed, this hallmark of chronic biofilm-based infection was introduced to medicine in the early 1970s, by the observation of *Pseudomonas Aeruginosa* aggregates, in the sputum of patients suffering from chronic lung infections [97]. Generally, biofilm-associated infections can be divided into two types: device-related and non-device related biofilm infections [33].

# 1. Device related biofilm infections

Microbial biofilms pose an extreme public health problem for persons requiring medical devices[98]. In the clinical setting, pathogenic bacteria can develop on the surfaces of indwelling implants, including central venous catheters, urinary catheters, pacemakers, mechanical heart valves, prosthetic joints, and intrauterine devices[24][25][33]. Because the host innate immune response is reduced in areas of the body in contact with foreign devices, these medical implants are particularly susceptible to biofilm formation[24]. In this condition, pathogens may originate from the patient's skin microflora, healthcare workers, or any other environmental sources, and attach on the surface of these devices, forming the infectious biofilm [12]. Through the contaminated indwelling medical devices, microorganisms gain access to human organs and tissues, causing severe infections such as urinary tract infection, bloodstream infection, prosthetic valve endocarditis, and nosocomial infections [12]. Clinically, a broad range of gram-positive and gram-negative microbial pathogens have been the cause of such infections[98]. Among them, *S. aureus* and *S*.

*epidermidis* are considered popular representatives, as they involve 40-50% of prosthetic heart valve infections, 50-70% of catheter biofilm infections, and 87% of bloodstream infections[26]. Currently, the only treatment used for medical device infections is the removal of the implant through surgical interventions; however, this strategy is traumatic and costly to patients [13] [24].

## 2. Non-device related biofilm infections

In humans, biofilm-associated infections are often chronic and opportunistic infections that affect most of the organs in the body, resulting in life-threatening conditions[12][33]. The outstanding hallmarks of chronic biofilm-based infections are extreme resistance to conventional and unconventional antibiotics, along with a radical capacity for evading the host defenses[33]. Particularly, microbial pathogens can form biofilm on both dead and living tissues, as well as on mucosal surfaces [13]. As recently documented, mucosal biofilms are involved in a plethora of human infections. For instance, one of its prototypes is the pulmonary infection caused by *P. aeruginosa*[99]. This opportunistic pathogen can colonize the airways once biofilm is formed, leading to chronic lung infection in cystic fibrosis patients [12][99]. In addition to chronic lung infection, native biofilm-associated infections also include chronic otitis media, native valve infectious endocarditis, chronic osteomyelitis, recurrent urinary tract infection, chronic wounds, dental caries, and periodontitis[12][25]. Since the only therapeutic option for clinicians is the administration of combinatorial antibiotics, which is often impractical, the treatment of such infections poses a significant challenge[24][99].

In this regard, to counter-attack the biofilm infections, there is an urgent need for in-depth research to better understand and regulate biofilms on indwelling medical devices, along with the development of new drugs with a broad-spectrum anti-biofilm activity that can eliminate recalcitrant biofilm.

# G. Anti-biofilm strategies

Over the past years, diverse strategies have been adopted to combat biofilms[16]. However, due to their drawbacks, it is of fundamental importance to discover alternative approaches that can effectively prevent biofilm formation and eradicate mature ones [9][16]. Lately, three main strategies are being involved in research and are receiving considerable attention (Figure 10) [9].

#### 1. Anti-adhesive / Antibacterial coating to surfaces

Starting with the first anti-biofilm strategy, it targets the adhesion stage of biofilm formation by inhibiting bacterial attachment and initiation on the surface [16]. This strategy can be approached in two ways, that is, by modifying physiochemical properties of surfaces to which microbes will attach, or incorporation of antimicrobial agents that will prohibit bacterial colonization onto the surface[9][100]. Since surface hydrophobicity plays a crucial role in the adhesion of microorganisms to abiotic and biotic surfaces, the prevention of bacterial adhesion can be achieved through surface coating with hydrophilic polymers [9]. For instance, coating polyurethane catheters by Poly-N-vinylpyrrolidone and hyaluronic acid, two hydrophilic polymers, can effectively prevent the bond of bacteria to

polymer surfaces[9]. Although these polymers are active, several drawbacks can limit their efficacy, such as their rapid dissolution and degradation by enzymes, or their ability to interact with body fluid components [16].

# 2. Interference with signaling pathways

Interference with signaling pathways, such as quorum sensing, is one of the main targets for many anti-biofilm agents[16]. This strategy, which seems to be promising, requires the use of anti-biofilm molecules or biofilm dissolving substance that can regulate the bacterial signaling genes expression, thereby inhibiting biofilm formation[9][100]. Such anti-biofilm molecules may be an enzyme, a peptide, an antibiotic, or polyphenols [16]. For instance, halogenated furanones, which are quorum sensing inhibitors, functions in inhibiting AHL-dependent gene expression, leading to the loss of exopolysaccharide production and defects in biofilm formation[53]. However, these inhibitors have shown to be reactive and toxic when treating bacteria- associated infections, thereby limiting them to external use only [9].

#### 3. Disaggregation of EPS matrix

The third anti-biofilm strategy, known as enzymatic strategy, targets the disaggregation of the protective (EPS) matrix[16]. This strategy can be established by using dispersing enzymes that can destroy essential EPS matrix components, thereby affecting its integrity [16]. Once this highly protective biofilm matrix is disturbed, microbial aggregates become more exposed to antimicrobial agents as the subsequent penetration of such agents

becomes much easier [9]. According to recent studies, dispersin B, an enzyme produced by *Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans*, can degrade the polysaccharide intercellular adhesion molecules of a mature biofilm, produced by *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Staphylococcus epidermidis*[101]. Moreover, Dnase I and proteinase K are also two other matrix dispersing enzymes that show activity against pre-formed biofilm by effectively destroying the physical integrity of the biofilm[9]. Despite the effectiveness of such enzymes, several limitations reduce their practical usage, including enzyme specificity, as well as their ability to trigger human auto-immune response once these are recognized as foreign bodies[102].



Figure 10. Anti-biofilm strategies to combat biofilms [16]

# H. Anti-biofilm molecules mechanisms of action

A large body of evidence highlighted the importance of understanding anti-

biofilms' mechanisms of action as a way to develop novel anti-biofilm compounds with

new pleiotropic modes[23]. In the current scenario, much attention has been directed towards anti-biofilm molecules that inhibit the biofilm-related cellular process, mainly targeting factors that regulate biofilm formation[23].

#### 1. Quorum sensing inhibition

Since quorum sensing regulates the production of various virulence factors in most pathogens and is mainly responsible for the coordination of biofilm formation, it is considered as a potential target for antimicrobial agents[103]. Several anti-biofilm compounds were reported to have QS-inhibiting effects. Among these compounds is Azithromycin, which has been shown to interrupt the QS signal synthesis by reducing the integrations of AHLs in *P. aeruginosa*, thus inhibiting LasR-dependent gene expression and thereby preventing biofilm formation [36]. According to Parsek et al., SAM analogs, Sadenosyl-homocysteine (SAH), sinefugin, 5-methylthioadenosine (MTA), and butyryl-SAM are also anti-biofilm agents that can interfere with *P. aeruginosa* biofilm via blocking AHL-mediated QS [104]. Further, several anti-biofilm compounds derived from natural sources have been discovered functioning as competitive inhibitors of the QS signal. These inhibitors may include bergamottins, cyclic sulfur compounds, penicillic acid, furanone compounds, cinnamaldehyde, and hamamelitannin [100]. Many of these natural compounds with anti-QS activity were shown to increase susceptibilities of biofilm-bound bacterial cells to antibiotic treatment, especially in *P. aeruginosa*[100].

#### 2. Inhibition of c-di-GMP signaling system

It has been increasingly clear that the enzymes involved in c-di-GMP play a pivotal role in regulating biofilm formation[23]. In this regard, several molecules have been reported as targets for these enzymes. Amongst them, LP 3134, LP 3145, LP 4010, and LP 1062 were discovered as small molecules that inhibit biofilm formation in *P. aeruginosa* and *A. baumannii* particularly[23]. These molecules were shown to inhibit diguanylate cyclase (DGC), leading to alterations in biofilm formation and its dispersion[23].

## 3. Cleavage of peptidoglycan

Tannic acid is one of the molecules that function in inhibiting the generation of biofilm by cleaving peptidoglycan, a layer present in the cell walls of most bacteria[105]. This polyphenolic compound prevents biofilm growth in *S. aureus*, by increasing the extracellular level of the immune-dominant Staphylococcal Antigen A (IsaA), a lysozyme-like enzyme that aids in the cleavage of the b-1,4 glycosidic bond between N-acetyl muramic acid (MurNAc) and N-acetyl glucosamine (GlcNAc)[105]. As the peptidoglycan is cleaved, the composition of proteins and teichoic acids present on the cell wall undergoes several modifications leading to the reduction in biofilm formation[105]. Additional to that, upon cleavage, some signaling molecules may be released, leading to the modulation of the biofilm-related gene expressions[105].

In addition to these major mechanisms, there are several targets followed by different anti-biofilm molecules. These anti-biofilm compounds with their functions are shown in figure (11).



Figure 11. Schematic representation of overview of the targets of anti-biofilm molecules [23]

# I. Natural derived anti-biofilm agents

Historically, natural products have been, and still to date, an invaluable source of inspiration in the discovery of novel compounds with enormous structural diversity and varied biological activities[106]. These privileged scaffolds that are incomparable to any available synthetic screening libraries are the origin of a majority of today's clinically used drugs, as they display one of the successful sources of potential drug leads [107]. Natural products, also known as secondary metabolites, are briefly defined as sets of small

chemical molecules that mainly originate from the bacterial, fungal, plant, and marine animal sources[108].

Despite the long list of currently available antimicrobial agents in the market, the treatment of biofilm-associated infections still represents a significant challenge of modern medicine[106]. Since bacterial resistance is undermining the efficacy of currently used antibiotics, the search for novel approaches to target pathogenic bacteria growing in biofilms is a big matter of concern[48]. To date, a plethora of potential anti-biofilm agents with unique structures have been identified, mainly derived from plants, medicinal herbs, marine sponges, and microorganisms[13]. Mostly, these anti-biofilms are non-proteinaceous drugs, that particularly interfere with the biofilm development via non-microbicidal mechanisms, or induces a phenotypic shift from biofilm to the planktonic stage[13].

#### 1. Anti-biofilm compounds derived from plant extracts or medicinal herbs

Many plant-derived natural products have been identified to possess antimicrobial and anti-biofilm functions. Among the variety of molecules derived from these sources is the anti-biofilm agents N-(Heptylsulfanylacetyl)-l-homoserine lactone (Figure 12A), which is extracted from garlic, a rich source of many compounds with antimicrobial effects[17]. This compound is a potent QS inhibitor that functions in interrupting the signal by competitively inhibiting transcriptional regulators LuxR and LasR in *P. aeruginosa* [109]. Moreover, another effective inhibitor of biofilm formation and virulence factors in *P. aeruginosa* is quercetin(Figure 12B)[110]. It is a plant-based polyphenol that significantly

reduces LasI, LasR, RhII, and RhIR expression levels involved in QS signaling[110]. Indeed, quercetin generally exists in most fruits, vegetables, and grains[17].





N-(heptylsulfanylacetyl)-l-homoserine

lactone (A)

Quercetin (B)

# Figure 12. N-(heptylsulfanylacetyl)-l-homoserine lactone (A) and Quercetin (B) structures [109][148].

Furthermore, several other natural products originating from herbal extracts shown in figure (13), were demonstrated to display different inhibitory effects on QS network and biofilm formation process in various bacterial species [103][111][112][113][114]. Indeed, some natural anti-biofilm agents have presented encouraging preclinical data for antibiofilm efficacy, exhibiting a promising perspective for treating biofilm-associated infections. However, no anti-biofilm agents have been approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration to date [17].



Figure 13. Anti-biofilm agents derived from natural plants and its potential mechanisms[17]

#### 2. Non-Actinomycetes marine microorganisms derived anti-biofilm compounds

Marine microbes remain an unambiguous significant source of bioactive secondary metabolites that potentially own valuable anti-biofilm activities[115]. As estimated, more than 15,000 compounds have been discovered from marine sources over the past few decades, and new compounds are being added progressively[116]. Of all the species studied, marine sponges have been shown to possess abundant reserves of novel natural products [116]. These sponges have been the focus of much interest due to their close association with various microbial communities, including bacteria, archaea, microalgae, and fungi [116]. Indeed, approximately 5,300 different natural compounds are known from sponges and their associated microorganisms[117]. Among the diverse array of molecules

generated by these benthic organisms is pyrrole-imidazole alkaloids (PIA) [116]. As natural product, PIAs are found mainly as fused rings and halogenate derivatives, particularly in brominated forms[116]. Among their various potent biological functions, PIAs demonstrate a prodigious anti-biofilm activity, where it is believed that the conserved 2-aminoimidazole moiety of the PIAs, is responsible for this anti-biofilm property[116]. Bromoageleferin and oroidin (Figure 14) derived from *Agelas conifer* are two crucial members of pyrrole-2-aminoimidazole alkaloid that have shown to inhibit and disperse bacterial biofilm[118].



Bromoageliferin

Oroidin

#### Figure 14. Structures of bromoageliferin and oroidin [118]

In fact, chemical libraries were generated by exploiting the 2-aminoimidazole moiety of bromoageliferin and oroidin, leading to the development of numerous molecules that revealed a biofilm inhibition activity against *P. aeruginosa, S.aureus, and A.baumannii* [118]. Of these molecules, CAGE and TAGE are two analogs of bromoageliferin (Figure 15), that were synthesized and assayed for their anti-biofilm activity on *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms[116]. Consequently, both derivatives were able to inhibit the biofilm formation of two *P. aeruginosa* strains PAO1 and PA14, with the capability of TAGA to disperse the already formed ones[116]. However, due to their high level of toxicity, these molecules are not in clinical use to date[116].



Figure 15. Bromoageliferin analogs [116]

## 3. Non-Actiomycetes Soil microorganisms derived anti-biofilm compounds

Bacteria that inhabit the soil are rich sources for the isolation of novel anti-biofilm compounds. As recently documented, *Bacillus* and *Paenibacillus* species were found to be potential sources for the isolation of active anti-biofilm metabolites with promising biological activities[119]. According to a study done by Alasil et al., a crude extract with its three identified compounds, derived from *Paenibacillus* sp. strain 139SI, were reported to exhibit a robust anti-biofilm activity against Gram-positive and Gram-negative pathogens[120]. These purified compounds were characterized to include amino acid antibiotics, phospholipase A2 inhibitor, and antibacterial agent[120]. As they compared their chemical structures to previously known bioactive compounds, they believed that the

three identified compounds could inhibit the cell-surface attachment, cell-cell interaction, and QS signaling[120]. Further, it's noteworthy to mention that these compounds showed no toxicity in murine models, thus considering them as promising alternative therapeutics to control biofilm-associated infections[120].

#### J. Actinobacteria / Streptomyces derived anti-biofilm compounds

#### 1. Characteristics of Actinobacteria

The optimal choice of producer organism are bacteria that have a great potential for natural product biosynthesis [121]. The best example in this regard is Actinobacteria or Actinomycetes, the most dominant species in the bacterial domain[121]. These filamentous Gram-positive prokaryotes, which belong to the family Actinomycetaceae, are highly versatile natural product (NP) producers[122]. They are common soil inhabitants that are present in various ecological habitats, as well as in marine and freshwater ecosystems [123]. In fact, marine and soil microorganisms have been documented as potential producers for active anti-biofilm compounds[124]. Due to their vast genomes, along with the overabundance of factors that control their gene expression, Actinomycetes are considered to have a high metabolic diversity[125]. They produce perhaps the most unique and diverse compounds, as they have provided a wealth of bioactive secondary metabolites of medical interest, including antibiotics, antivirals, anticancer drugs, and immunosuppressive agents[126].

#### 2. Characteristics of Streptomyces

The best-characterized genus of the Actinomycetaceae is Streptomyces, Grampositive bacteria that belong to the family Streptomycetaceae [127]. They are distinguished by their complex developmental cycle, unusual filamentous organisms, and their reproduction lifestyle [127]. Mainly, Streptomyces are among the most numerous and most versatile soil microorganisms, where they constitute 50% of the total population of soil bacteria[128]. Due to their capacity to produce large varieties of bioactive secondary metabolites, with diverse and versatile biological activities, Streptomyces sp. have grasped considerable attention worldwide[129]. Following the discovery of streptothricin antibiotic in 1942 by Selman Waksman, and the discovery of streptomycin two years later, large antibiotics discovery efforts began in pharmaceutical companies [130]. Up to 2010, 40 % of 34,000 bioactive compounds were derived from actinomycetes, and approximately 80% of these actinomycetes compounds were produced by *Streptomyces* species, while the remaining 20% were isolated from non-Streptomyces [131]. Indeed, Streptomyces are the source of the majority of antibiotic classes in the market today, as researchers are continually screening for new bioactive compounds [132].

# 3. Anti-biofilm activity of soil actinobacterial compounds

To date, several bioactive compounds have been identified derived from various Actinobacteria strains. Recently, three peptide metabolites designated as cahuitamycins A, B, and C were discovered after purifying an organic extract isolated from *Streptomyces gandocaensis* strain DHS334, using high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) [133]. Among these metabolites, cahuitamycins C (Figure 16A) was found to show a potent inhibitory effect on *Acinetobacter baumannii* biofilm formation process [133]. On the other hand, another biofilm inhibitor was discovered belonging to the prodiginine group of antibiotics, mainly known as streptorubin B (Figure 16B) [134]. This metabolite was extracted from *Streptomyces* sp. MC11024 and showed high inhibitory activity on biofilm formation by methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA) [134]. In addition, ethyl acetate extract from *Streptomyces* sp. SBT343 was also found to display a significant antagonistic effect on *S. aureus* biofilm formation [16].



Figure 16. Cahuitamycin C (A) and Streptorubin B (B) structures [133][134]

# 4. Anti-biofilm activity of marine actinobacterial compounds

Although the majority of natural anti-biofilm agents have been found in soil-borne actinomycetes, perhaps because they dominate as antimicrobial agent producers, marine actinomycetes are also considered rich sources for anti-biofilm metabolites, according to several reports[135]. However, scarce material is reported in the literature, as only a little attention has been given, particularly to marine microbial metabolites [107]. In one of these rare studies that were based on marine anti-biofilm inhibitors, the effect of bioactive crude extracts isolated from *Streptomyces* spp. (KP12, KP12, and CW17) was examined[135]. Consequently, these metabolites had revealed a high anti-biofilm activity against pathogenic biofilms, including *P. aeruginosa, E. coli, Vibrio parahaemoluticus, Streptococcus pneumonia, Staphylococcus aureus,* and *Enterococcus faecalis*[135]. They significantly inhibit biofilm formation by interrupting cell surface attachment as well as cell-cell interactions[135].

Moreover, butenolide (Figure 17) that was derived from marine *Streptomyces* sp. is another bioactive metabolite that was discovered with anti-biofilm activity[136]. This compound, structurally similar to brominated furanones, a previously identified non-toxic anti-biofilm metabolite, has established effective inhibition of biofilm formation, as well as eradication of pre-formed biofilm in different types of pathogens[136]. Hence it is considered as a promising anti-biofilm agent as well as an antibiotic enhancer[136].



Butenolide

Figure 17. Butenolide structure [136]

Accordingly, it is worth mentioning that soil and marine environments represent an unexploited reservoir of biodiversity able to synthesize a wide range of bioactive compounds, including anti-biofilm molecules[137]. Therefore, in the current scenario, research is focusing on driving the exploitation of soil and marine sources for the identification of novel and active anti-biofilm metabolites with new modes of action.

## K. Combinatorial therapy

Since classical techniques in terms of either viability reduction or biofilm removal were shown to be ineffective in treating biofilm-associated infections, combinatorial therapy is receiving particular attention nowadays[138]. Indeed, considering the tremendous clinical significance of biofilm-related infections and their inherent recalcitrance to antibiotic treatment, a combinatorial strategy is the most practiced treatment in the clinical settings [138]. This strategy involves the use of anti-biofilm compounds in conjugation with conventional antibiotics as well as unconventional bioactive molecules [138]. Although anti-biofilm agents themselves do not kill the bacteria, they can make them more susceptible to traditional antibiotics as well as to the action of the host immune system[138]. Further, synergistic activity of anti-biofilm-based combinations can extend the antibiotic's spectrum of action, promote antibiotic intracellular uptake through membrane destabilization, and interfere with signaling molecules involved in biofilm formation[138]. A wide variety of bioactive agents combined with different conventional antibiotics have been studied, acting against distinct biofilm components[138].

In one of these studies on combinatorial therapies, the derivatives of 2-aminoimidazoles, that were recently reported to disperse bacterial biofilms, show a synergistic effect when combined with conventional antibiotics in treating S. aureus (MRSA) and A. baumanni[139]. Moreover, the combination of the anti-biofilm peptide IDR-1018, with the antibiotic Ciprofloxacin, resulted in the degradation of (p) ppGpp, a stress-related signaling nucleotide, in *P. aeruginosa*[140]. This combination potentiates the anti-biofilm activity by interfering with the stress-related signaling molecule, thus inhibiting biofilm formation[140]. Notably, anti-biofilm agent/antibiotic combinations appear to often reduce biofilm formation more effectively than when they are administered alone, highlighting the usefulness of anti-biofilm compounds in repurposing conventional antibiotics[138]. Further, the anti-biofilm agent likely maintains bacteria within their sensitive planktonic state, while the antibiotic eliminates the bacterial population [27]. In this regard, combinatorial therapy improves anti-biofilms activity as well as enhances antibiotic efficacy against multi-drug resistance strains, thereby facilitating biofilm control and eradication[138]. However, the mainstream approach in fighting against biofilm-related infections is now focused on the discovery of new novel anti-biofilm compounds.

# CHAPTER III

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

## A. Collection of soil/marine samples

Two soil and one marine sample were collected from three different regions in Lebanon, Beit Mery, Mazrat Meshref, and Tabarja, respectively. The samples were transported to the laboratory in sterile polyethylene bags/glass bottles and stored for further study.

# **B.** Bacterial isolation

After drying the soil samples at 37 °C for 5 to 7 days, 3g of each was heated in 100 mL water at 55° C for 30 minutes. Following that, serial dilutions were prepared (1:5, 1:10, 1:100, 1:1000) using autoclaved water with a final volume for each dilution equal to 1 mL. Further, 30µL of each dilution was plated on International Streptomyces Project-3 (ISP3) agar, (10g oat flakes, 9g agar, and 2.5mL trace elements in 1L of distilled water) and on Soil agar (15g dried soil sample, 9g agar, and 5g corn starch with 250 mL distilled water). Similarly, the water sample was also heated at 55° C for 30 minutes and followed the same serial dilution steps as the soil samples. These dilutions were plated on Seawater agar and Seawater ISP3, which are the respective counterparts of Soil agar and ISP3 agar with the distilled water substituted with Seawater. The plates were left in an incubator at 28°C for 7 to 14 days. A few days later, the obtained colonies from the three samples were purified by

multiple rounds of subsequent streaking either on ISP3 or Seawater ISP3. Only the pure looking isolated colonies were stored in 50% glycerol at -80°C. Indeed, storing the bacteria requires adding 2 mL autoclaved water on the bacterial agar plate, swabbing the plate, and then collecting 1 mL of the spore/bacteria-containing liquid in Eppendorf tubes. These Eppendorf tubes were centrifuged for 10 mins at 4°C and 4 rpm. Subsequently, the supernatant was removed and the remaining pellet was resuspended in 1 ml of a sterile 50% glycerol solution and then stored at -80 °C.

# C. Secondary metabolites extraction

For secondary metabolites extraction, a starter culture was initiated by inoculating 35µL of the spore stock into 5mL of liquid ISP3 and was then incubated for 2 days on a shaker incubator (150 rpm, 28°C). 1mL from the first seed was transferred into 10mL of fresh liquid ISP3 media and left at the same conditions for another 2 days. Subsequently, 1mL of this second seed culture was used to inoculate 50mL of each of the 14 different production media (Table 1) These cultures were also kept at 150rpm, 28°C for 7 days. At the end of the incubation period, 1mL of sterile Amberlite XAD 16N (Sigma) resin solution was added into each of the 14 cultures to absorb the secondary metabolites. It was left on a shaking platform at 150 rpm for 3-4 hours at room temperature. The mixture was then centrifuged (4000 rpm, 4°C, 20 minutes), the supernatant was discarded, and secondary metabolites were then extracted from the cell mass/resin pellet using 30mL acetone/10mL methanol. The solvent was left to evaporate at room temperature under a fume hood, and the crude extract was dissolved in 1mL DMSO and stored at -20°C.

# D. Screening for antibacterial activity on ESKAPE pathogens

To screen for antibacterial activity of the crude extracts produced in different production media, broth micro-dilution (BMD) was performed. In a 96 well-plate,  $100\mu$ L of Cation-adjusted Mueller Hinton Broth (MHCAB, Sigma) was pipetted in each well from columns 2 to 12. In the remaining column (1), 195 $\mu$ L of MHCAB was added into each well, followed by 5 $\mu$ L of crude extract ( $10\mu$ g/mL). These extracts then, using a multichannel pipette, simultaneously received a twofold serial dilution to obtain decreasing concentrations of the extract between columns 1 and 11. Column 12 received no extracts and served as a positive control. All 96 wells were then inoculated with  $10\mu$ L of a bacterial solution\*, then incubated in a shaking incubator at 37°C overnight. The number of wells where there was visual inhibition of growth was recorded.

\*To prepare the bacterial inoculum, 2 to 3 colonies of an overnight appropriate bacterial culture were suspended in 2mL of MHCAB in order to obtain a difference in optical density (O.D.) between the clean broth and the bacterial suspension of 0.5 McFarland. Further, 750µL of the bacterial suspension was then diluted in 14.25mL of MHCAB to get a bacterial solution with a concentration of 5x10^5 CFU/mL.

# E. Screening for anti-biofilm activity

To assess the antibiofilm activity of the crude extracts against clinically relevant pathogens, two microtiter plate (MTP) assays were carried out using 96-well flat-bottom polystyrene titer plates. One assay checks the extracts' potency to inhibit biofilm formation (IF) while the other evaluates its ability to eradicate pre-formed biofilm (PF). The four pathogens that the crude extracts were tested on were selected based on their potential to form a robust biofilm.

# 1. Pseudomonas aeruginosa (PAN14)

# a. IF Protocol:

- An overnight culture of PAN14 on LB agar was adjusted to 0.5 McF in LB broth then cultured overnight at 37°C.
- The overnight culture was diluted 1:50 in fresh LB broth.
- The 96-well round-bottom microtiter plate was then filled accordingly:
  - ο Negative control: 98 μL LB broth only
  - $\circ$  Positive control: 98 µL LB broth+ 50 µL bacteria.
  - $\circ$  Treated wells: 98 µL LB broth + 50 µL bacteria + 5 µL treatment.
- The plate was placed in a stationary incubator overnight at 37°C.
- The liquid in all the wells was then removed by pipetting.
- The plate was gently washed twice with distilled water, where each wash was done for 15 mins.
- 150 µL of 1 % crystal violet was added to each well, and the plate was then incubated at room temperature for 20min.
- After the crystal violet was removed, the plate was washed again with distilled water and left to dry for 1 hour at RT.
- $200 \ \mu L \text{ of } 95 \ \%$  ethanol was added to the wells and left for 20min.

- $120 \ \mu L$  from each well was transferred to a flat bottomed microtiter plate.
- The absorbance was then measured using BIO-TEK ELx800 Automated Microplate Reader at 630nm.

# b. <u>PF Protocol</u>

- An overnight culture of PAN14 on LB agar was adjusted to 0.5 McF in LB broth then cultured overnight at 37°C.
- The overnight culture was diluted 1:50 in fresh LB broth.
- The 96-well round-bottom microtiter plate was then filled accordingly :
  - $\circ$  Negative control: 98  $\mu L$  LB broth only.
  - $\circ$  Positive control or treated wells: 98 µL LB broth+ 50 µL bacteria.
- The plate was placed in a stationary incubator overnight at 37°C.
- The crude extracts were added (5  $\mu$ L) for the treated wells.
- The plate was placed again in a stationary incubator overnight at 37°C.
- The liquid in all the wells was then removed by pipetting.
- The plate was gently washed twice with 0.9% NaCl, where each wash was done for 15 mins.
- The plate was left to dry for an hour at room temperature.
- 150 µL of 1 % crystal violet was added to each well, and the plate was then incubated at room temperature for 20min.
- After the crystal violet was then removed, the plate was washed again with 0.9% NaCl and left to dry for 1 hour at RT.

- $200 \ \mu L \text{ of } 95 \ \%$  ethanol was added to the wells and left for 20min.
- $120 \ \mu L$  from each well was transferred to a flat bottomed microtiter plate.
- The absorbance was then measured using BIO-TEK ELx800 Automated Microplate Reader at 630nm.

# 2. Acinetobacter baumannii (DSM & T36)

- a. <u>IF protocol</u>
  - An overnight culture of *A. baumannii* (DSM or T36) on TSA agar was adjusted to 0.5 McF in TSBG (tryptic soy broth with 0.25% glucose) then cultured overnight at 37°C.
  - The overnight culture was diluted 1:40 in fresh TSB broth.
  - The 96-well round-bottom microtiter plate was then filled accordingly:
    - $\circ$  Negative control: 200 µL TSB broth only.
    - $\circ$  Positive control: 200 µL of the bacterial suspension.
    - $\circ$  Treated wells: 200 µL of the bacterial suspension + 5 µL treatment.
  - Free cells were removed, and biofilms were washed three times with 1x sterile phosphate-buffered saline (PBS).
  - The wells were stained with 1% (w/v) crystal violet for 20 min at room temperature. After staining, the wells were washed twice with PBS to remove the unabsorbed crystal violet and air-dried at 37°C.
  - Crystal violet was dissolved using ethanol/acetone (80, 20, v/v) for 20 min.

- The absorbance was then measured using BIO-TEK ELx800 Automated Microplate Reader at 595 nm.
- b. <u>PF protocol</u>
  - An overnight culture of *A. baumannii* (DSM or T36) on TSA agar was adjusted to 0.5 McF in TSBG (tryptic soy broth with 0.25% glucose) then cultured overnight at 37°C.
  - The overnight culture was diluted 1:40 in fresh TSB broth.
  - The 96-well round-bottom microtiter plate was then filled accordingly:
    - $\circ$  Negative control: 200  $\mu L$  LB broth only.
    - $\circ~$  Positive control or treated wells: 200  $\mu L$  LB broth+ 50  $\mu L$  bacteria.
  - The plate was placed in a stationary incubator overnight at 37°C.
  - The treatment was added (5  $\mu$ L) for the treated well.
  - The plate was then left overnight at 37°C
  - Free cells were removed and biofilm were washed three times with 1x sterile phosphate-buffered saline (PBS).
  - The wells were stained with 1% (w/v) crystal violet for 20 min at room temperature. After staining, the wells were washed twice with PBS to remove the unabsorbed crystal violet and air-dried at 37°C.
  - Crystal violet was dissolved using ethanol/acetone (80, 20, v/v) for 20 min.
  - The absorbance was then measured using BIO-TEK ELx800 Automated Microplate Reader at 595 nm.

Both the IF and PF protocols were adopted from Zeighami et al. (2019) with some modifications [91].

# 3. Staphylococcus aureus MRSA

# a. IF Protocol

- An overnight culture of MRSA on LB agar was adjusted to 0.5 McF in TSBG (tryptic soy broth with 1% glucose) medium then cultured overnight at 37°C.
- The overnight culture was diluted 1:50 in fresh TSB with 1% glucose broth.
- The 96-well round-bottom microtiter plate was then filled accordingly:
  - ο Negative control: 200 μL TSBG broth only.
  - ο Positive control: 10 μL of the bacterial suspension + 190 μL of fresh TSBG medium.
  - $\circ$  Treated wells: 10 μL of the bacterial suspension + 190 μL of fresh TSBG medium + 5 μL treatment.
- The plate was placed in a stationary incubator at 37°C for 24–72h.
- The wells were carefully washed twice with 1× phosphate-buffered saline (PBS; 137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 4.3 mM Na2HPO4·H2O, 1.4 mM KH2PO4, pH 7.4) to remove planktonic bacteria and allowed to dry overnight at 4°C.
- Then, biofilms were stained with 200 μl of 0.1% crystal violet (Merck, USA) for 5 min at room temperature.

- After staining, the wells were washed twice with distilled water to remove the unabsorbed crystal violet and air-dried at 37°C.
- Finally, adhered crystal violet was solubilized with 200 µl of ethanol and measured at 595 nm with a BIO-TEK ELx800 Automated Microplate Reader.

# b. <u>PF Protocol</u>

- An overnight culture of MRSA on LB agar was adjusted to 0.5 McF in TSBG (tryptic soy broth with 1% glucose) medium then cultured overnight at 37°C.
- The overnight culture was diluted 1:50 in fresh TSB 1% glucose broth.
- The 96-well round-bottom microtiter plate was then filled accordingly:
  - ο Negative control: 200 μL TSBG broth only.
  - $\circ$  Positive control and treated wells: 10 μl of the bacterial suspension + 190 μl of fresh TSBG medium.
- The plate was placed in a stationary incubator overnight at 37°C.
- The treatment was added (5  $\mu$ L) for the treated well.
- The plate was then left again in a stationary incubator overnight at 37°C.
- The wells were carefully washed twice with 1× phosphate-buffered saline (PBS; 137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 4.3 mM Na2HPO4·H2O, 1.4 mM KH2PO4, pH 7.4) to remove planktonic bacteria and allowed to dry overnight at 4°C.
- Then, biofilms were stained with 200 μl of 0.1% crystal violet (Merck, USA) for 5 min at room temperature.

- After staining, the wells were washed twice with distilled water to remove the unabsorbed crystal violet and air-dried at 37°C.
- Finally, adhered crystal violet was solubilized with 200 µl of ethanol and measured at 595 nm BIO-TEK ELx800 Automated Microplate Reader.

Both the IF and PF protocols were adopted from Lade et al. (2019) with some modifications[141].

#### F. Bio-active molecule purification

# 1. Upscale metabolite production

An up-scaled secondary metabolite production was generated by inoculating 105µL of the spore stock into 15mL of liquid ISP3 and then incubated for 2 days on a shaker (150 rpm, 28°C). 10mL of the first seed was then transferred into 100mL of sterile liquid ISP3 and left at the same conditions for a couple of days. Further, the entirety of the second seed culture was used to inoculate 6L of the media whose extract showed the highest activity, including BM9 and TBJ13 which demonstrated significant activities in media C and media C in seawater, respectively. After one to two weeks of incubation on a shaker (150rpm,28°C), the secondary metabolites were extracted via acetone/methanol similar to small scale. The resulting crude extract was then divided into two parts. The first was dissolved in DMSO and tested again for their anti-biofilm activity to confirm previous results while the other was subjected to liquid-liquid partitioning.

#### 2. Liquid/Liquid partitioning

Liquid/liquid partitioning is a traditional technique usually performed in a separating funnel where the crude of interest is distributed between two immiscible solvents[142]. Briefly, this technique relies on the concept of "like dissolves like", where polar solvents such as chloroform dissolve polar solutes and non-polar solvents such as hexane dissolve non-polar solutes[142]. After the active crude extract was subjected to this protocol, four different fractions (water/methanol, hexane, chloroform, and ethyl acetate) were collected. These fractions were then tested for their anti-biofilm activity via BMD. The fraction which presented the highest anti-biofilm activity was subjected to further compound segregation.

#### 3. Thin Layer Chromatography (TLC)

To determine the number and purity of the compounds in the extracts, TLC was done using a metal TLC plate whose surface was coated with a thin layer of silica gel. On the TLC plate, the fraction with the highest activity obtained from the liquid/liquid chromatography was spotted, after dissolving it with 1mL of methanol. The TLC plate was placed in a chamber filled with a suitable liquid solvent or a mixture of liquids. It was ensured that the spots were not below the solvent level to avoid being washed into the solvent. After the solvent has risen to the top of the plate, within 1 cm from the top, the plate was removed with forceps, and the solvent front was marked immediately with a pencil. Subsequently, the TLC plate was viewed under the UV light and analyzed depending on the migration and separation of the compounds.

# 4. Column chromatography and fractionation

Column chromatography, a technique widely used for the separation and purification of natural compounds, was done for further and more in-depth investigation of the most active fraction in the extracts. Briefly, the impure sample was loaded onto a column of adsorbant, mainly silica gel. After an organic solvent or a mixture of solvents ( the eluent) were drained through the column, the components of the sample were separated from each other by partitioning between the stationary silica and the mobile eluent. Consequently, molecules with different polarities moved through the column at different rates, and the eluent was collected in fractions. To confirm that the separation of the components was successful, fractions were typically analyzed again by thin-layer chromatography.

## G. DNA extraction of bacterial isolates

After 2 days of growing the bacteria in Tryptic soy broth (TSB) on a shaking incubator (28°C, 150 rpm), a cell pellet is collected by centrifugation at 4000rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C. Further, the pellet was washed by 10X PBS and centrifuged again for 5 mins at 4000 rpm. The washed pellet is then suspended in 180 $\mu$ L of 20mg/mL lysozyme solution (lysozymes (Sigma) dissolved in TE buffer (amresco; pH=8). Subsequently, the solution is incubated at 37°C for 60 minutes. 20 $\mu$ L of Proteinase K (Qiagen) is then added to the mixture and incubated at 56°C until the cells are completely lysed (no more than 3hours). Afterward, 200 $\mu$ L of AL buffer (Qiagen) is added to the solution, which is
incubated first at 70°C for 10minutes, then at 95°C for 15minutes to lyse any leftover spores. Then, the mix is centrifuged for 5 mins at 4000rpm at room temperature, the pellet containing cell debris is then discarded, and the supernatant is transferred into a new microcentrifuge tube. The rest of the protocol is performed according to a QIAmp DNA mini kit according to the manufacturer's instructions.

### H. 16S rRNA gene amplification and sequencing

Amplification of 16S rRNA genes was performed by Polymerase chain reaction (PCR). After thawing all reagents on ice, 1  $\mu$ L of the primers were diluted in 9  $\mu$ L autoclaved water. 3 µL of the processed DNA extraction was placed in PCR tubes, with the following PCR mix components added and the final volume adjusted to 30  $\mu$ L: 0.75  $\mu$ L of each diluted primer (SSU-bact-27F: 5'-AGAGTTTGATCMTGGCTCAG-3', SSU-bact-519R: 5'-GNATTACCGCGGCKGCTG-3' & 8F: 5'AGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCA-3', 1492R: 5'TACGGYTACCTTACGACTT-3'), 6 µL Taq polymerase (5X FIRE Pol Master Mix with 7.5 mM MgCl2, Solis Biodyne), and 19.5  $\mu$ L water. Negative control was also prepared, which only consists of the PCR mix without the DNA extract to ensure that the other components of the reaction are not contaminated. The PCR tubes with the negative control were then placed in the BIO-RAD T100<sup>™</sup> Thermal Cycler PCR machine for 2-3 hours (Figure 18). Once the PCR program ends, the quality of the PCR products was examined by agarose gel electrophoresis, where variable DNA fragments were separated according to their size and charge, resulting in clear defined bands. After the gel was placed under UV light, the DNA fragments that were already stained by DNA-binding dye (Gel

Pilot loading Dye 5x), glow, and their locations, along with their sizes, were determined. Further, the PCR products were purified/sequenced by macrogen, aligned using MEGA X program, and compared with similar 16S rDNA gene sequences using the BLAST search program.



Figure 18. PCR steps

## I. Statistical analysis

Biofilm data were analyzed using the GraphPad Prism® 5.00 software (GraphPad Sofware Inc.). Data were expressed as the mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. and analyzed with Student's t-test as indictated in the figures' legends. Significance was recorded using: \* for p-value < 0.05, \*\* for p-value < 0.01 and \*\*\* for p-value < 0.001.

## **Table 1. Production media recipes**

	Α	B	С	D	E	F	G	H	Ι	J	K	L	М	N	0
1	Components (g/L)	V	Veg	A	В	С	INA	Ra3	GPMY	V6	AF/MS	GYM	M8	NL2	СОМ
2	Potato starch								20						
3	Peptone		5	4				2		5					
4	Soluble starch	24	20										20	30	
5	Dextrose	1									20				
6	Meat extract	3	2	4						5			2		
7	Yeast extract	5	3	2				4	5	5	2	4	2	2.5	
8	Malt extract							10	5			10			
9	Soy-bean meal		2	2							6				
10	Glucose							10		20		4	10		25
11	Triptose	5													
12	Maltose			20											
13	Dextrin			10											
14	CaCO3		1		0.1	0.1	5				4		3	10	2
15	Glycerol				20		30	5	20						
16	Glycine				2.5	2.5							4		
17	Hydrolyzed casein									3					
18	NaCl				1	1	2			1.5	1				2
19	KH2PO4				1	1									0.15
20	FeSO4				0.1	0.1									
21	MgSO4.7H2O				0.1	0.1									
22	MgCl2.6H2O							2							
23	Tween 60					20									
24	Molasses													20	
25	Soy flour													15	25
26	Dried beer yeast														3
27	Ammonium Sulfate														2
28	Soybean Oil														3
29	рН	7.2	7	7	7	7	7.3	7.4	7.02	7.05	7.3	7	7	7.8	8.4

Material Used	Brand Name
Potato Starch	Sigma-Aldrich
Peptone	DIFCO Laboratories
Soluble Starch	Merck
Dextrose	DIFCO <sup>TM</sup> Laboratories
Meat Extract	CONDA
Yeast Extract	USB
Malt Extract	Lab M, NEOGEN
Glucose	Sigma-Aldrich
Maltose	
Dextrin	
CaCO <sub>3</sub>	Baker
Glycerol	Sigma-Aldrich
Glycine	Fisher
Hydrolyzed Casein	
NaCl	Merck
KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	Merck
FeSO <sub>4</sub>	Sigma-Aldrich
Tween 60	Sigma-Aldrich
Soy Bean Flour	Commercial
Dried Beer Yeast	Commercial
(NH4)2SO4	Fisher

Table 2. Brand names of different materials used

Casein Peptone	
Bacteriological Agar	Lab M, NEOGEN
TSB	BD Phoenix <sup>TM</sup>
96-Well Plates	Corning®
PCR Plates	BIO-RAD
Incubator (37°C)	Thermo Scientific
Incubator (28°C)	Amerex Instruments
Centrifuge	Thermo Scientific
Rotary Evaporator	Heidoplh

# Chapter IV

# RESULTS

### A. Antibacterial activity screening

The crude extracts produced by different isolated strains, derived from either soil or marine samples, were evaluated for their antibacterial activity on a panel of ESKAPE (*Enterococcus faecium, Staphylococcus aureus, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Acinetobacter baumannii, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, and Enterobacter* species) pathogens[11]. After testing the extracts according to the assay specified earlier, the entire raw findings are displayed in the following tables (Table 3-5-6). Almost all extracts originating from all the strains grown in all 14 different production media demonstrated no antibacterial activity on any of the tested pathogens except for BM9, which showed a slight inhibitory effect against Gram-positive bacteria in different production media (Table 4). However, due to the low number of wells with inhibition, and to the fact that BM9-derived extracts exhibited an antibacterial effect only on Gram-positive pathogens only, which, in turn, are not our target in the study, this strain was not eligible to further investigations.

TBJ13 & MM strains							Μ	edia						
Bacteria	v	Vegetative	Α	В	С	INA	RA3	GPMY	V6	AF/MS	GYM	M8	СОМ	NL2
S. aureus ATCC	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
29213														
S. aureus	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Newman														
S. aureus N315	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
E. feacalis ATCC 19433	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
K. pneumonaie DSM	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
A.baumannii DSM 30008	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
K. pneumonaie ATCC 13883	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
P. aeruginosa ATCC 27853	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
P. aeruginosa mexAB	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
<i>E. coli</i> ATCC 25922	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 3. Table depicting the number of wells with inhibition for crude extracts produced by strains TBJ13, MM3, MM5, MM6, MM7, and MM18 in 14 different media against a panel of

Table 4. Table depicting the number of wells with inhibition for crude extracts produced by strain BM9 in 14 different media against a panel of ESKAPE pathogens.

BM 9							Ν	/ledia						
Bacteria	V	Vegetative	Α	В	С	INA	RA3	GPMY	V6	AF/MS	GYM	M8	СОМ	NL2
S. aureus ATCC 29213	0	0	4	3	0	1	3	0	4	0	0	0	0	0
S. aureus Newman	0	0	4	3	0	1	3	0	3	0	2	0	0	0
S. aureus N315	0	0	4	3	0	1	3	0	3	3	3	0	0	0
<i>E. feacalis</i> ATCC 19433	0	0	3	2	0	0	3	0	4	0	3	0	0	0
K. pneumonaie DSM	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
A.baumannii DSM 30008	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

К.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
pneumonaie ATCC 13883														
P. aeruginosa ATCC 27853	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
P. aeruginosa mexAB	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
<i>E. coli</i> ATCC 25922	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

 Table 5. Table depicting the number of wells with inhibition for crude extracts produced by strain MM9 in 14 different media against Gram-positive pathogens.

MM 9	Media													
Bacteria	V	Vegetative	Α	В	С	INA	RA3	GPMY	V6	AF/MS	GYM	M8	СОМ	NL2
S. aureus	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ATCC 29213														
S. aureus	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Newman														
S. aureus	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
N315														

# Table 6. Table depicting the number of wells with inhibition for crude extracts produced by strain MM15 in 14 different media against a panel of ESKAPE pathogens.

MM 15	Media													
Bacteria	V	Vegetative	Α	В	С	INA	RA3	GPMY	V6	AF/MS	GYM	M8	СОМ	NL2
<i>S. aureus</i> ATCC 29213	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S. aureus Newman	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
S. aureus N315	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
A.baumannii DSM 30008	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
P. aeruginosa mexAB	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
<i>E. coli</i> ATCC 25922	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

#### **B.** Anti-biofilm activity screening

Biofilm inhibition assays were conducted on the crude extract produced by five strains that already showed null to weak antibacterial activities, in order to evaluate their capability of inhibiting biofilm growth and/or eradicate preformed biofilm. The screening was based on the two protocols mentioned before and was done against four biofilmforming pathogens, namely, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (PAN14), *Acinetobacter Baumannii* (DSM and T36), *and Staphylococcus aureus* MRSA. As demonstrated in the tables and bar graphs below, all the extracts were able to decrease biofilm formation or disperse preformed ones in PAN14 within a variable pattern. Some strains were capable of doing so in other pathogens, including ACN T36 and MRSA. It's worth mentioning that DMSO was tested alone as a control, and the results showed no antibiofilm activity.

Crude extracts derived from BM9 and TBJ13 were shown to significantly reduce biofilm formation in PAN14, particularly in media C, to 24.1% and 11.8% respectively (Tables 7 and 8). The results presented an extremely statistically significant decrease (P <0.01 for BM9 and P <0.0001 for TBJ13) of biofilm formation in media C, as shown in figures 19 and 20.

BM9				Media			
Bacteria	V	Veg	А	В	С	INA	RA3
	60.5%	32.9%	52.7%	179.3%	24.1%	88.39%	89.3%
PAN14	GPMY	V6	AF/MS	GYM	M8	СОМ	NL2
	76.3%	110%	73.9%	53.9%	49%	55.4%	42.7%

 Table 7. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 treated with BM9-derived extracts produced in 14 different production media.



Figure 19. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 treated with BM9-derived extracts produced in 14 different production media

Table 8. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 treated with TBJ 13-derived
extracts produced in 14 different production media.

TBJ13				Media			
Bacteria	V	Veg	А	В	С	INA	RA3
	24.6%	42%	59%	93.5%	11.8%	52.6%	41.8%
PAN14	GPMY	V6	AF/MS	GYM	M8	СОМ	NL2
	64%	32.9%	32.4%	43.5%	32.7%	38.4%	64.7%



Figure 20. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 treated with TBJ13-derived extracts produced in 14 different production media

In the same regard, extracts produced by MM3 strain were able to reduce PAN14 biofilm development, especially those produced in media C to 11.8% and media M8 to 10% as seen in Table 13. Additionally, MM3-derived extracts were capable of decreasing biofilm growth in ACN strain T36, as shown intensely by those produced by media GYM and GPMY to 11% and 12%, respectively (Table 9). Extracts from MM7 and MM9, two other soil-derived strains, also had a significant effect, particularly on PAN14 biofilms. MM7 extract produced in media B was able to reduce biofilm formation to 11% (Table 11), whereas MM9 extract produced in media NL2 was able to do so more efficiently (8%) as seen in Table 16. Besides, MM9 extract produced in media M8 was capable of decreasing biofilm formation in MRSA pathogen to 3% (Table 12). More importantly, it's worth mentioning that MM9 extracts produced in media V6 and Vegetative were also capable of

eliminating preformed biofilm in PAN14 to reach 8 and 9%, respectively. However, the extracts of this strain do not affect the biofilm formation of ACN DSM and T36, as seen in Table (12). Although the crude extracts of the mentioned strains decreased biofilm formation, they also enhanced biofilm formation in different production media, as mainly seen in MM4 strain. In contrast to the other strains, MM4 derived-extract had no significant effect on reducing biofilm formation in PAN14 and ACN T36 in any of the production media (Table 10).

 

 Table 9. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 and ACN T36 treated with MM3derived extracts produced in 14 different production media.

	MM 3							Med	lia						
	Bacteria	V	Veg	Α	В	С	INA	RA3	GPMY	V6	AF/MS	GYM	M8	СОМ	NL2
IF	PAN14	28.5%	36%	-	29%	11.8%	17.9%	48.5%	44.9%	46%	29.5%	26%	10%	147%	43%
	ACNT36	39%	44.7%	102.9%	26.9%	50%	70.8%	23.7%	12%	33.5%	40.5%	11%	17%	17%	33.5%
	Bacteria	V	Veg	Α	В	С	INA	RA3	GPMY	V6	AF/MS	GYM	M8	СОМ	NL2
PF	PAN14	14%	32.5%	51.7%	35%	28%	97.8%	-	73%	122%	178%	18%	84%	61%	124%
	ACNT36	170%	-	317%	313%	-	-	76.8%	-	113%	703%	222%	-	104%	-



Figure 21. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 and ACN T36 treated with MM3-derived extracts produced in 14 different production media.

Table 10. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 and ACN T36 treated with MM4derived extracts produced in 14 different production media.

	MM 4							N	ledia						
	Bacteria	v	Veg	Α	В	С	INA	RA3	GPMY	V6	AF/MS	GYM	M8	СОМ	NL2
IE	PAN14	143%	57.8%	180.6%	46%	28%	53%	72%	71%	447%	-	33%	465%	-	62%
	ACNT36	99%	37%	75%	26%	25%	43.5%	18%	44.9%	40%	23.9%	44%	37%	116%	41.6%
	Bacteria	v	Veg	Α	В	С	INA	RA3	GPMY	V6	AF/MS	GYM	M8	СОМ	NL2
PF	PAN14	17%	43.5%	11%	15%	5%	332%	-	12.4%	30.8%	29%	16.8%	20%	156%	241%
	ACNT36	103%	-	350%	115%	64%	170%	103%	92%	179%	203%	77.7%	135%	-	289%



Figure 22. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 and ACN T36 treated with MM4-derived extracts produced in 14 different production media.

Table 11. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 and ACN DSM treated withMM7-derived extracts produced in 14 different production media.

	MM 7							Μ	edia						
	Bacteria	V	Veg	Α	В	С	INA	RA3	GPMY	V6	AF/MS	GYM	M8	СОМ	NL2
IF	PAN14	12.4%	18%	16%	11%	115%	64%	18%	13%	12%	27%	27%	19%	24%	30%
	ACNDSM	91%	72%	114%	86%	47.5%	200%	145%	138%	133%	150%	119%	326%	243%	173%
	Bacteria	V	Veg	Α	В	С	INA	RA3	GPMY	V6	AF/MS	GYM	M8	СОМ	NL2
	PAN14	24%	18.9%	28%	39%	23%	-	120%	131%	-	15%	11%	12%	9.7%	40%
PF	ACNDSM	84.5%	83%	131%	64.5%	68%	-	68%	82%	53%	93%	76%	314%	59%	163%



Figure 23. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 and ACN DSM treated with MM7-derived extracts produced in 14 different production media.

N	1M 9							M	edia						
	Bacteria	V	Veg	Α	В	С	INA	RA3	GPMY	V6	AF/MS	GYM	M8	СОМ	NL2
	PAN14	17.5%	13%	22.7%	40%	15%	74%	21.4%	12.6%	30%	80%	25%	18%	193%	8%
IF	ACNDSM	890%	102%	-	-	15%	-	91.9%	80.7%	133%	76%	87%	351%	150%	-
	ACNT36	37.5%	135%	69%	45%	46%	92%	75%	70.6%	1818%	26%	1183%	171%	61%	82%
	MRSA	40%	51.4%	60%	33.3%	10%	70%	72%	58%	52%	21%	331%	3%	-	18%
	Bacteria	v	Veg	Α	В	С	INA	RA3	GPMY	V6	AF/MS	GYM	M8	СОМ	NL2
	PAN14	10%	9%	8%	33%	18.4%	82%	372%	18%	8%	15%	139%	20%	69%	26%
PF	ACNDSM	128%	135%	630%	182%	358%	-	-	88.5%	664%	-	515%	83%	-	-
	ACNT36	82%	46%	-	91%	46%	-	68%	31%	90%	97%	61%	41%	48%	24%
	MRSA	153%	82.5%	127%	200%	-	67%	-	150%	289%	61%	-	-	-	-

Table 12. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14, ACN T36, ACN DSM, MRSA treated with MM9-derived extracts produced in 14 different production media.











Figure 24. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14, ACN DSM, ACN T36 and MRSA treated by MM9-derived extract produced in 14 different production media.

## C. Anti-biofilm activity of upscaled fractions

BM9 and TBJ13 were subjected to further investigations as their extracts produced in media C showed significant activities in reducing biofilm growth. Therefore, the extracts of these strains were upscaled in media C, and subjected to liquid/liquid partitioning, resulting in three active fractions. As shown in table 13, the highest overall significance belongs to the BM9C ethyl acetate fraction, which achieved the highest biofilm inhibition activity in reducing biofilm formation to 11% and eliminating preformed ones to reach 2 %. Similarly, the other two fractions also demonstrated extreme antibiofilm activities, but with lesser impact and percentages.

BN	/19 C		Media						
Ba	teria	Chloroform	Ethyl Acetate	Hexane					
PAN14	IF	37%	11%	13%					
	PF	2.1%	2%	2.8%					

## Table 13. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 treated by BM9C-dervied



Figure 25. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14 treated by BM9C-derived extract.

Further, among the tested fractions of TBJ13C, the hexane fraction exhibited the highest activity in eliminating already established biofilm in both PAN14 and ACN DSM to reach 1.3% and 8%, respectively (Table 14). Likewise, TBJ13C ethyl acetate and

chloroform fractions also demonstrated remarkable antibiofilm activities against PAN14, however, with lower percentages. On the other hand, the chloroform fraction alone showed significant anti-biofilm activity in eradicating ACN DSM biofilms, as well as decreasing biofilm formation in MRSA to 5.7%.

# Table 14. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14, ACN DSM, ACN T36, and MRSA treated by TBJ13C-derived extract.

٦	ГВЈ13 С		Media					
	Bacteria	Chloroform	Ethyl acetate	Hexane				
IF	PAN14	18%	38%	13%				
••	ACNDSM	1.9%	8.5%	1.9%				
	ACNT36	70.8%	40%	38.7%				
	MRSA	5.7%	10.4%	-				
	Bacteria	Chloroform	Ethyl acetate	Hexane				
	PAN14	2.8%	4%	1.3%				
PF	ACNDSM	10.8%	32%	8%				
	ACNT36	46%	40.5%	70%				
	MRSA	177%	791%	-				









Figure 26. Percentage of biofilm formation in PAN14, ACN DSM, ACN T36, and MRSA treated by TBJ13C-derived extract.

## **D.** Genomic Characterization

#### 1. DNA extraction

The above- purified strains that were tested for their antibiofilm activities were further subjected to genomic DNA extraction analysis using a specific kit protocol. Since a ration (A260/280) of 1.8 represents a pure DNA sample, and the results obtained were > 1.8(Table 15), the extracted DNA from the samples was considered of high purity.

Table 15. DNA extraction of N	MM3, MM4,	, MM7, and	I MM9 strains
-------------------------------	-----------	------------	---------------

Sample Name	Concentration(ng/µL)	A260/280	A260/230
MM3	160.563	1.96	2.17
<b>MM4</b>	985.389	2.18	2.82
MM7	333.412	2.14	2.41
MM9	648.057	2.05	2.18

## 2. 16S rRNA Sequencing

The sequencing of the 16S ribosomal RNA (16S rRNA) gene is recognized to be effective for bacterial identification [143]. After obtaining the 16S rRNA gene sequences of the unknown MM3, MM4, MM7, MM9, BM9, and TBJ13 strains, the sequencing data were assembled, edited, and compared with GenBank sequences by using the basic local alignment search tool (BLAST). The first five hits of every strain are represented in the below table, along with their percent identity. According to recent studies, sequence identity  $\geq$  99% is used to identify isolates of the same species. In this regard, since the percent identity of MM3, MM4, MM7, BM9, and TBJ13 strains ranges between 99.09% and 99.78%, these strains are thereby of known species and genus. However, MM9 strain, having a percent identity ranging between 98.7–99%, might be a new novel species.

Table 16. Description and Percent identity of MM3, MM4, MM7, MM9, BM9, and TBJ13 according to BLAST. <u>https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi</u>

		Description	Per. Ident
	~	Streptomyces viridochromogenes strain NBRC 13347 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	99.09%
MM3	~	Streptomyces viridochromogenes strain NBRC 3113 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	99.09%
1411415	✓	Streptomyces albogriseolus strain NBRC 3709 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	99.09%
	✓	Streptomyces albogriseolus strain NBRC 3413 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	99.09%
	~	Streptomyces viridodiastaticus strain NBRC 13106 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	99.09%

		Description	Per. Ident
	✓	Streptomyces cellulosae strain NBRC 13027 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	99.32%
	✓	Streptomyces cellulosae strain NRRL B-2889 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	99.32%
MM4	✓	Streptomyces minutiscleroticus strain NBRC 13361 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	98.87%
	<	Streptomyces minutiscleroticus strain NBRC 13000 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	98.87%
		Streptomyces pseudogriseolus strain NRRL B-3288 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	98.87%
		Description	Per. Ident
		Bacillus proteolyticus strain MCCC 1A00365 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	99.79%
		Bacillus wiedmannii strain FSL W8-0169 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	99.79%
MM7	<	Bacillus cereus strain IAM 12605 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	99.58%
		Bacillus tropicus strain MCCC 1A01406 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	99.58%
	<	Bacillus paramycoides strain MCCC 1A04098 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	99.58%
		Description	Per. Ident
		Description <u>Streptomyces lienomycini strain NBRC 15425 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence</u>	Per. Ident 98.90%
	<ul><li>✓</li><li>✓</li></ul>	Description           Streptomyces lienomycini strain NBRC 15425 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence           Streptomyces aurantiogriseus strain CSSP525 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	Per. Ident 98.90% 98.90%
MM9	<b>v</b> <b>v</b> <b>v</b>	Description           Streptomyces lienomycini strain NBRC 15425 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence           Streptomyces aurantiogriseus strain CSSP525 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence           Streptomyces lienomycini strain LMG 20091 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	Per. Ident 98.90% 98.90% 98.90%
MM9	V V V V V	Description         Streptomyces lienomycini strain NBRC 15425 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces aurantiogriseus strain CSSP525 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces lienomycini strain LMG 20091 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces albogriseolus strain DSM 40003 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	Per. Ident 98.90% 98.90% 98.90% 98.68%
MM9		Description         Streptomyces lienomycini strain NBRC 15425 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces aurantiogriseus strain CSSP525 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces lienomycini strain LMG 20091 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces albogriseolus strain DSM 40003 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces violaceorubidus strain LMG 20319 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	Per. Ident 98.90% 98.90% 98.90% 98.68% 98.46%
MM9	S S S S	Description         Streptomyces lienomycini strain NBRC 15425 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces aurantiogriseus strain CSSP525 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces lienomycini strain LMG 20091 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces albogriseolus strain DSM 40003 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces violaceorubidus strain LMG 20319 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	Per. Ident 98.90% 98.90% 98.68% 98.68%
MM9		Description         Streptomyces lienomycini strain NBRC 15425 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces aurantiogriseus strain CSSP525 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces lienomycini strain LMG 20091 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces albogriseolus strain DSM 40003 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces violaceorubidus strain LMG 20319 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Description	Per. Ident 98.90% 98.90% 98.68% 98.46% Per. Ident
MM9		Description         Streptomyces lienomycini strain NBRC 15425 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces aurantiogriseus strain CSSP525 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces lienomycini strain LMG 20091 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces albogriseolus strain DSM 40003 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces violaceorubidus strain LMG 20319 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces violaceorubidus strain LMG 20319 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces violaceorubidus strain LMG 20319 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces violaceorubidus strain LMG 20319 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces violaceorubidus strain LMG 20319 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces violaceorubidus strain LMG 20319 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	Per. Ident 98.90% 98.90% 98.68% 98.68% 98.46% Per. Ident 99.55%
MM9		Description         Streptomyces lienomycini strain NBRC 15425 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces aurantiogriseus strain CSSP525 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces lienomycini strain LMG 20091 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces albogriseolus strain DSM 40003 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces violaceorubidus strain LMG 20319 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces violaceorubidus strain LMG 20319 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces galilaeus strain JCM 4757 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces galilaeus strain NBRC 13400 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	Per. Ident 98.90% 98.90% 98.80% 98.68% 98.46% Per. Ident 99.55% 99.55%
MM9 BM9		Description         Streptomyces lienomycini strain NBRC 15425 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces aurantiogriseus strain CSSP525 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces lienomycini strain LMG 20091 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces albogriseolus strain DSM 40003 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces violaceorubidus strain LMG 20319 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces violaceorubidus strain LMG 20319 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces galilaeus strain JCM 4757 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces galilaeus strain NBRC 13400 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces bobili strain NBRC 16166 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	Per. Ident 98.90% 98.90% 98.90% 98.68% 98.46% 98.46% Per. Ident 99.55% 99.55% 99.55%
MM9 BM9		Description         Streptomyces lienomycini strain NBRC 15425 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces aurantiogriseus strain CSSP525 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces lienomycini strain LMG 20091 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces albogriseolus strain DSM 40003 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces violaceorubidus strain LMG 20319 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces violaceorubidus strain LMG 20319 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces galilaeus strain JCM 4757 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces galilaeus strain NBRC 13400 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces bobili strain NBRC 13400 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces bobili strain NBRC 13199 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces bobili strain NBRC 13199 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces bobili strain NBRC 13199 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	Per. Ident 98.90% 98.90% 98.68% 98.68% 98.46% 98.46% 98.46% 99.55% 99.55% 99.55% 99.55% 99.32%
MM9 BM9		Description         Streptomyces lienomycini strain NBRC 15425 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces aurantiogriseus strain CSSP525 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces lienomycini strain LMG 20091 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces albogriseolus strain DSM 40003 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces violaceorubidus strain LMG 20319 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces violaceorubidus strain LMG 20319 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces galilaeus strain JCM 4757 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces galilaeus strain NBRC 13400 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces bobili strain NBRC 13400 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces sequences strain NBRC 13400 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces bobili strain NBRC 13109 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces hobili strain NBRC 13109 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces hobili strain NBRC 13109 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces hobili strain NBRC 13109 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces hobili strain NBRC 13109 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence         Streptomyces rhizophilus strain JR-41 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	Per. Ident 98.90% 98.90% 98.68% 98.68% 98.46% 98.46% 98.46% 99.55% 99.55% 99.55% 99.55% 99.32% 99.32% 98.65%

		Description	Per. Ident
	✓	Halomonas sp. strain MBL0129 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence	99.88%
<b>TD</b> 112	✓	Halomonas sp. strain 201707CJKOP-34 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence	99.88%
IBJ13	<	Halomonas sp. YLB-10 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence	99.88%
	<	Halomonas sp. strain SR56 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence	99.88%
	✓	Halomonas sp. ZJ2214 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence	99.88%

# CHAPTER V

## DISCUSSION

Over the past three decades, research carried out suggests that biofilms are either extremely difficult or impossible to eradicate from the human body[33]. Up to date, health care institutions are struggling in diagnosing and treating infections caused by biofilmforming pathogens, as these kinds of infections show high resistance to conventional drugs. Due to this situation, the discovery and development of anti-biofilm compounds and/or biofilm eradication agents is an urgent medical need.

As the results demonstrate the absence of antibacterial activity of the strainsderived extracts on almost all ESKAPE pathogens, these findings emphasize that the crude extracts may be either susceptible to microorganisms other than bacteria including fungi, parasites, viruses, or target specific microbial sessile cells that live inside the bacteria known as biofilm, thereby acting as anti-biofilm inhibitors. In our study, this was the case, where the crude extracts derived from different strains showed anti-biofilm activity by reducing biofilm growth and/or dispersing already established ones in the four selected biofilm-forming pathogens previously mentioned. Generally, studies have shown that *Streptomyces* and *Bacillus*, which are soil microorganisms, along with *Halomonas* species, marine microorganism, are potential sources of active secondary metabolites [16][119][144]. Since our extracts are derived from these three species, as shown in table 16, the report of the strains-derived extracts having anti-biofilm activities is not surprising.

Based on our findings, all strains-derived extracts were capable of inhibiting biofilm formation in different production media in *P. aeruginosa* strain (PAN14), one of the most commonly studied non-mucoid laboratory strains that exhibit a strong biofilm- forming capability[145]. Additionally, some strains, such as MM3 was also capable of inhibiting biofilm formation in ACN strain T36, a multidrug-resistant clinical pathogen that extremely forms robust biofilm (Table 9). Interestingly, its noteworthy that crude extracts of MM9 exerted dual actions in preventing and eradicating PAN14 biofilm in different production media (Table 12), indicating that different molecules in the extract can target different stages of biofilm formation. Further, as BM9C and TBJ13C strains were fractionated, they demonstrated significant activity in inhibiting PAN14 biofilm formation, as well as they showed good potential in eradicating its pre-formed biofilm, in ethyl acetate and hexane fractions, respectively (Tables 13 & 14).

Analyzing these results, molecules in these extracts and fractions seems to inhibit or interfere with specific biofilm formation processes including i) initial steps of biofilm formation; ii) EPS matrix formation; iii) chemical pathways required for bacteria to maintain the biofilm mode of existence, such as quorum sensing; iv) c-di-GMP signaling, particularly in Gram-negative bacteria [27]. Since the first step in the biofilm formation process is the attachment or adhesion of a cell to a surface, blocking this initial step is one of the suggested targets of the active crude extract's compounds, which, in turn, will reduce the chances of further development and establishment of biofilm in pathogens, and thereby prevent biofilm-associated infections[27]. Not only molecules in the crude extracts can target the early stages of biofilm formation, but also they may inhibit its late stages. For

instance, compounds in the active extracts may inhibit the expression of different genes of the EPS matrix, or interfere with its components, leading to the disruption of the biofilm architecture during the maturation process[22]. Besides, quorum sensing, an essential regulator of biofilm formation in *P. aeruginosa*, *A. baumannii*, and *S. aureus* pathogens could also be one of the possible novel targets of the active molecules to control biofilmassociated infections in human[10][35]. The active molecules can disrupt this intercellular communication signal by inhibiting the expression of its specific genes in every pathogen, thus acting as QS inhibitors. For instance, QS disruption can reduce the production of Pel exopolysaccharide in PAN14, and may lead to biofilm dispersal in S. aureus pathogen [55][145]. Another regulatory system that may be targeted by the crude extract's compounds is the c-di-GMP, a universal positive regulator of biofilm formation, mainly in P. aeruginosa pathogen[69]. As antibiofilm inhibitors, molecules in the active crude extracts may target DGCs and PDEs enzymes, in a way that can reduce the c-di-GMP level in bacteria. Therefore, the active molecules can interfere with cyclic di-GMP metabolism by either overexpressing DGC or inactivating PDE, which, in turn, will impede c-di-GMP biosynthesis, and thereby induce biofilm dispersal[69].

In conclusion, marine and soil microorganisms are well-known sources that potentially produce a myriad of novel bioactive compounds. Since most of the discovered anti-biofilm agents derived from these two sources are either in the initial stage of investigation, or have terribly failed to enter the preclinical test, our goal in this study is to develop these novel anti-biofilm compounds that not only do need to be efficacious but also

must have appropriate bioavailability, pharmacokinetic properties, as well as lack of toxicity.

## Future perspectives

As our work illustrates that BM9C ethyl acetate and TBJ13C hexane fractions exhibit potent anti-biofilm activity, further assays will be arranged to determine how specific, and broadly active these soil and marine-derived metabolites are. Accordingly, our future work will be focused on separating the different molecules of BM9C ethyl acetate fraction, as well as TBJ13C hexane fraction, using flash chromatography and/or highperformance liquid chromatography (HPLC) technique. The attained chromatography fractions will then be tested by BMD, where the compounds that possess the highest antibiofilm activities will have their structures elucidated by Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR). Moreover, phenotypical and biochemical characterizations of these two strains will be performed using a scanning electron microscope (SEM), gram staining technique, biochemical (API 20E) profiling, as well as NaCL and PH growth characterization. Consequently, the active compound will then be tested in-vivo, aiming to have low toxicity levels, as well as further investigations, will be done to determine their mechanism of action. The active extracts of MM3, MM7, and MM9 strains in different production media will follow the same steps as of BM9 and TBJ13 in order to screen and purify any active anti-biofilm compounds.

Therefore, as a result of the complete lack of selective anti-biofilm drugs in the clinic, efforts will be targeted at fine-tuning these anti-biofilm molecules in the hope that

they can effectively minimize and eradicate biofilm-related infections, and thereby have a great potential in future applications as stand-alone biofilm treatment.

# BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [1] J. Bryan-Wilson, "No time to wait," *Artforum Int.*, vol. 54, no. 10, pp. 113–114, 2016.
- [2] M. Ferri, E. Ranucci, P. Romagnoli, and V. Giaccone, "Antimicrobial resistance: A global emerging threat to public health systems," *Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr.*, vol. 57, no. 13, pp. 2857–2876, 2017, doi: 10.1080/10408398.2015.1077192.
- [3] A. Y. Hwang and J. G. Gums, "Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry The emergence and evolution of antimicrobial resistance : Impact on a global scale," *Bioorg. Med. Chem.*, vol. 24, no. 24, pp. 6440–6445, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.bmc.2016.04.027.
- [4] S. I. Hay *et al.*, "Measuring and mapping the global burden of antimicrobial resistance," *BMC Med.*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 1–3, 2018, doi: 10.1186/s12916-018-1073-z.
- [5] T. Frieden, "Antibiotic resistance threats in the United States," *Centers Dis. Control Prev.*, p. 114, 2013, doi: CS239559-B.
- [6] P. G. Bowler, "Antibiotic resistance and biofilm tolerance: A combined threat in the treatment of chronic infections," *J. Wound Care*, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 273–277, 2018, doi: 10.12968/jowc.2018.27.5.273.
- [7] S. Bin Zaman, M. A. Hussain, R. Nye, V. Mehta, K. T. Mamun, and N. Hossain, "A Review on Antibiotic Resistance: Alarm Bells are Ringing," *Cureus*, vol. 9, no. 6, 2017, doi: 10.7759/cureus.1403.
- [8] S. R. Partridge, S. M. Kwong, N. Firth, and S. O. Jensen, "crossm Mobile Genetic Elements Associated with Antimicrobial Resistance," vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 1–61, 2018.
- [9] K. S. Ong, C. I. Mawang, D. Daniel-Jambun, Y. Y. Lim, and S. M. Lee, "Current anti-biofilm strategies and potential of antioxidants in biofilm control," *Expert Rev. Anti. Infect. Ther.*, vol. 16, no. 11, pp. 855–864, 2018, doi: 10.1080/14787210.2018.1535898.
- [10] K. Qvortrup *et al.*, "Small Molecule Anti-biofilm Agents Developed on the Basis of Mechanistic Understanding of Biofilm Formation," vol. 7, no. November, 2019, doi: 10.3389/fchem.2019.00742.
- S. Santajit and N. Indrawattana, "Mechanisms of Antimicrobial Resistance in ESKAPE Pathogens," *Biomed Res. Int.*, vol. 2016, 2016, doi: 10.1155/2016/2475067.
- [12] F. Sun *et al.*, "Biofilm-associated infections: Antibiotic resistance and novel therapeutic strategies," *Future Microbiol.*, vol. 8, no. 7, pp. 877–886, 2013, doi: 10.2217/fmb.13.58.

- [13] A. Dharmaprakash, R. Thandavarayan, I. Joseph, and S. Thomas, "Development of broad-spectrum antibiofilm drugs : strategies and challenges," vol. 10, pp. 1035– 1048, 2015.
- T. K. Wood, "Strategies for combating persister cell and bio fi lm infections," pp. 1– 3, 2017, doi: 10.1111/1751-7915.12774.
- [15] E. Galdiero, L. Lombardi, A. Falanga, G. Libralato, M. Guida, and R. Carotenuto, "Biofilms : Novel Strategies Based on Antimicrobial Peptides," 2019.
- [16] A. S. Azman, C. I. Mawang, J. E. Khairat, and S. AbuBakar, "Actinobacteria—a promising natural source of anti-biofilm agents," *Int. Microbiol.*, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 403–409, 2019, doi: 10.1007/s10123-019-00066-4.
- [17] L. Lu *et al.*, "Developing natural products as potential anti biofilm agents," *Chin. Med.*, pp. 1–17, 2019, doi: 10.1186/s13020-019-0232-2.
- [18] W. Bazzi *et al.*, "The inhibitory effect of micafungin on biofilm formation by Pseudomonas aeruginosa," *Biofouling*, 2013, doi: 10.1080/08927014.2013.816299.
- [19] K. A. B. Kissoyan, W. Bazzi, U. Hadi, and G. M. Matar, "The inhibition of Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilm formation by micafungin and the enhancement of antimicrobial agent effectiveness in BALB/c mice," *Biofouling*, 2016, doi: 10.1080/08927014.2016.1199021.
- [20] E. Pathology, "AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT THE EFFECT OF MICAFUNGIN AND ANTI-BACTERIAL AGENTS ON PSEUDOMONAS AERUGINOSA BIOFILM FORMATION IN BALB / C MICE by."
- [21] E. Pathology, "AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT EVALUATION OF THE COMBINATORY EFFECT OF ANIDULAFUNGIN EACH WITH LEVOFLOXACIN AND AMIKACIN ON PREFORMED BIOFILM OF PSEUDOMONAS."
- [22] Q. Wei and L. Z. Ma, "Biofilm matrix and its regulation in Pseudomonas aeruginosa," *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, vol. 14, no. 10, pp. 20983–21005, 2013, doi: 10.3390/ijms141020983.
- [23] R. Roy, M. Tiwari, G. Donelli, and V. Tiwari, "Strategies for combating bacterial biofilms: A focus on anti-biofilm agents and their mechanisms of action," *Virulence*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 522–554, 2018, doi: 10.1080/21505594.2017.1313372.
- [24] E. van T. Bernardes, S. Lewenza, and S. Reckseidler-Zenteno, "Current Research Approaches to Target Biofilm Infections.," *Postdoc J.*, vol. 3, no. 6, 2015, doi: 10.14304/surya.jpr.v3n6.5.
- [25] D. Sharma, L. Misba, and A. U. Khan, "Antibiotics versus biofilm: An emerging battleground in microbial communities," *Antimicrob. Resist. Infect. Control*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 2019, doi: 10.1186/s13756-019-0533-3.

- [26] Z. Khatoon, C. D. McTiernan, E. J. Suuronen, T. F. Mah, and E. I. Alarcon,
   "Bacterial biofilm formation on implantable devices and approaches to its treatment and prevention," *Heliyon*, vol. 4, no. 12, p. e01067, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2018.e01067.
- [27] P. S. Stewart, "Prospects for Anti-Biofilm Pharmaceuticals," pp. 504–511, 2015, doi: 10.3390/ph8030504.
- [28] K. Lewis, "Multidrug tolerance of biofilms and persister cells," *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.*, vol. 322, pp. 107–131, 2008, doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-75418-3\_6.
- [29] E. Deziel, Y. Comeau, and R. Villemur, "Initiation of Bio Im Formation by," J. Bacterilogy, vol. 183, no. 4, pp. 1195–1204, 2001, doi: 10.1128/JB.183.4.1195.
- [30] T. F. C. Mah and G. A. O'Toole, "Mechanisms of biofilm resistance to antimicrobial agents," *Trends Microbiol.*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 34–39, 2001, doi: 10.1016/S0966-842X(00)01913-2.
- [31] H. Mikkelsen, Z. Duck, K. S. Lilley, and M. Welch, "Interrelationships between colonies, biofilms, and planktonic cells of Pseudomonas aeruginosa," *J. Bacteriol.*, vol. 189, no. 6, pp. 2411–2416, 2007, doi: 10.1128/JB.01687-06.
- [32] H. S. Joo and M. Otto, "Molecular basis of in vivo biofilm formation by bacterial pathogens," *Chem. Biol.*, vol. 19, no. 12, pp. 1503–1513, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2012.10.022.
- [33] M. Jamal *et al.*, "Bacterial biofilm and associated infections," *J. Chinese Med. Assoc.*, vol. 81, no. 1, pp. 7–11, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.jcma.2017.07.012.
- [34] P. Y. Chung and Y. S. Toh, "Anti-biofilm agents : recent breakthrough against multidrug resistant Staphylococcus aureus," pp. 231–239, 2014, doi: 10.1111/2049-632X.12141.
- [35] K. I. Wolska, A. M. Grudniak, Z. Rudnicka, and K. Markowska, "Genetic control of bacterial biofilms," J. Appl. Genet., vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 225–238, 2016, doi: 10.1007/s13353-015-0309-2.
- [36] S. Favre-Bonté, T. Köhler, and C. Van Delden, "Biofilm formation by Pseudomonas aeruginosa: Role of the C4-HSL cell-to-cell signal and inhibition by azithromycin," *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.*, vol. 52, no. 4, pp. 598–604, 2003, doi: 10.1093/jac/dkg397.
- [37] R. Teresa and B. H. Iglewski, "MINIREVIEW Bacterial Quorum Sensing in Pathogenic Relationships," *Society*, vol. 68, no. 9, pp. 4839–4849, 2000.
- [38] U. Jenal and J. Malone, "Mechanisms of Cyclic-di-GMP Signaling in Bacteria," Annu. Rev. Genet., vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 385–407, 2006, doi: 10.1146/annurev.genet.40.110405.090423.

- [39] R. Simm, M. Morr, A. Kader, M. Nimtz, and U. Römling, "GGDEF and EAL domains inversely regulate cyclic di-GMP levels and transition from sessibility to motility," *Mol. Microbiol.*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 1123–1134, 2004, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2004.04206.x.
- [40] U. Jenal, A. Reinders, and C. Lori, "Cyclic di-GMP: Second messenger extraordinaire," *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 271–284, 2017, doi: 10.1038/nrmicro.2016.190.
- [41] M. A. Ghaz-Jahanian, F. Khodaparastan, A. Berenjian, and H. Jafarizadeh-Malmiri, "Influence of small RNAs on biofilm formation process in bacteria," *Mol. Biotechnol.*, vol. 55, no. 3, pp. 288–297, 2013, doi: 10.1007/s12033-013-9700-6.
- [42] W. Ahmed, K. Zheng, and Z. F. Liu, "Small non-coding RNAs: New insights in modulation of host immune response by intracellular bacterial pathogens," *Front. Immunol.*, vol. 7, no. OCT, pp. 1–10, 2016, doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00431.
- [43] S. Singh, S. K. Singh, I. Chowdhury, and R. Singh, "Understanding the Mechanism of Bacterial Biofilms Resistance to Antimicrobial Agents," *Open Microbiol. J.*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 53–62, 2017, doi: 10.2174/1874285801711010053.
- [44] S. S. Mozina, A. Klancknik, and P. Raspor, "Mechanisms of microbial resistance in biofilms," *Biofilms Bioeng.*, no. January, pp. 311–332, 2013.
- [45] H. Ishida *et al.*, "In Vitro and In Vivo Activities of Levofloxacin against Biofilm-Producing Pseudomonas aeruginosa," vol. 42, no. 7, pp. 1641–1645, 1998.
- [46] K. I. M. Lewis, "MINIREVIEW Riddle of Biofilm Resistance," vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 999–1007, 2001, doi: 10.1128/AAC.45.4.999.
- [47] A. S. Jamal M, Tasneem U, Hussein T, "Bacterial Biofilm: Its Composition, Formation and Role in Human Infections. Research & Reviews: Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 4(3), 1–14. Retrieved from http://www.rr," no. November, 2015.
- [48] A. Tewari, B. Jain, P. S. Dhamannapatil, and M. K. Saxena, "Biofilm Resistance to Antimicrobial Agents and Novel Approaches to Combat Biofilm Mediated Resistance in Bacteria," *EC Microbiol.*, vol. 3, no. 14.3, pp. 71–77, 2018.
- [49] K. Lewis, "Persister Cells," 2010, doi: 10.1146/annurev.micro.112408.134306.
- [50] M. J. Ashby, J. E. Neale, S. J. Knott, and I. A. Critchley, "Effect of antibiotics on non-growing planktonic cells and biofilms of Escherichia coli," pp. 443–452, 1994.
- [51] A. Brooun, S. Liu, and K. I. M. Lewis, "A Dose-Response Study of Antibiotic Resistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa Biofilms," vol. 44, no. 3, pp. 640–646, 2000.
- [52] T. K. Wood, S. J. Knabel, and W. Kwan, "Bacterial Persister Cell Formation and Dormancy," vol. 79, no. 23, pp. 7116–7121, 2013, doi: 10.1128/AEM.02636-13.

- [53] P. Thebault, I. Lequeux, and T. Jouenne, "Antibiofilm strategies," no. December, 1995.
- [54] N. M. Maurice, B. Bedi, and R. T. Sadikot, "Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilms: Host response and clinical implications in lung infections," *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.*, vol. 58, no. 4, pp. 428–439, 2018, doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2017-0321TR.
- [55] F. Fitzpatrick, H. Humphreys, and J. P. O'Gara, "The genetics of staphylococcal biofilm formation - Will a greater understanding of pathogenesis lead to better management of device-related infection?," *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.*, vol. 11, no. 12, pp. 967–973, 2005, doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2005.01274.x.
- [56] L. Wang and L. Wang, "Acinetobacter baumannii biofilm resistance mechanisms and prevention and control of progress," *Discuss. Clin. Cases*, vol. 3, no. 2, p. 22, 2016, doi: 10.14725/dcc.v3n2p22.
- [57] O. Ciofu and T. Tolker-Nielsen, "Tolerance and resistance of pseudomonas aeruginosabiofilms to antimicrobial agents-how P. aeruginosaCan escape antibiotics," *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 10, no. MAY, 2019, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.00913.
- [58] G. A. O'Toole and R. Kolter, "Flagellar and twitching motility are necessary for Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilm development," *Mol. Microbiol.*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 295–304, 1998, doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1998.01062.x.
- [59] I. Vallet, J. W. Olson, S. Lory, A. Lazdunski, and A. Filloux, "The chaperone/usher pathways of Pseudomonas aeruginosa: Identification of fimbrial gene clusters (cup) and their involvement in biofilm formation," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 98, no. 12, pp. 6911–6916, 2001, doi: 10.1073/pnas.111551898.
- [60] C. B. Whitchurch, T. Tolker-Nielsen, P. C. Ragas, and J. S. Mattick, "Extracellular DNA required for bacterial biofilm formation," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 295, no. 5559, p. 1487, 2002, doi: 10.1126/science.295.5559.1487.
- [61] L. Ma, M. Conover, H. Lu, M. R. Parsek, K. Bayles, and D. J. Wozniak, "Assembly and development of the Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilm matrix," *PLoS Pathog.*, vol. 5, no. 3, 2009, doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000354.
- [62] L. K. Jennings *et al.*, "Pel is a cationic exopolysaccharide that cross-links extracellular DNA in the Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilm matrix," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 112, no. 36, pp. 11353–11358, 2015, doi: 10.1073/pnas.1503058112.
- [63] M. J. Franklin, D. E. Nivens, J. T. Weadge, and P. Lynne Howell, "Biosynthesis of the pseudomonas aeruginosa extracellular polysaccharides, alginate, Pel, and Psl," *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 2, no. AUG, 2011, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00167.
- [64] K. M. Colvin *et al.*, "The Pel and Psl polysaccharides provide Pseudomonas aeruginosa structural redundancy within the biofilm matrix," *Environ. Microbiol.*,

vol. 14, no. 8, pp. 1913–1928, 2012, doi: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2011.02657.x.

- [65] N. Billings *et al.*, "The Extracellular Matrix Component Psl Provides Fast-Acting Antibiotic Defense in Pseudomonas aeruginosa Biofilms," *PLoS Pathog.*, vol. 9, no. 8, 2013, doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003526.
- [66] M. F. Moradali, S. Ghods, and B. H. A. Rehm, "Pseudomonas aeruginosa lifestyle: A paradigm for adaptation, survival, and persistence," *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.*, vol. 7, no. FEB, 2017, doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00039.
- [67] J. P. Pearson *et al.*, "Structure of the autoinducer required for expression of Pseudomonas aeruginosa virulence genes," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 91, no. 1, pp. 197–201, 1994, doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.1.197.
- [68] L. Mashburn-Warren *et al.*, "Interaction of quorum signals with outer membrane lipids: Insights into prokaryotic membrane vesicle formation," *Mol. Microbiol.*, vol. 69, no. 2, pp. 491–502, 2008, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.06302.x.
- [69] P. Nadal Jimenez, G. Koch, J. A. Thompson, K. B. Xavier, R. H. Cool, and W. J. Quax, "The Multiple Signaling Systems Regulating Virulence in Pseudomonas aeruginosa," *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.*, vol. 76, no. 1, pp. 46–65, 2012, doi: 10.1128/mmbr.05007-11.
- [70] R. P. Wenzel and M. B. Edmond, "The impact of hospital-acquired bloodstream infections," *Emerg. Infect. Dis.*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 174–177, 2001, doi: 10.3201/eid0702.010203.
- [71] M. Simões, R. N. Bennett, and E. A. S. Rosa, "Understanding antimicrobial activities of phytochemicals against multidrug resistant bacteria and biofilms," *Nat. Prod. Rep.*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 746–757, 2009, doi: 10.1039/b821648g.
- [72] D. Mack *et al.*, "The intercellular adhesin involved in biofilm accumulation of Staphylococcus epidermidis is a linear β-1,6-linked glucosaminoglycan: Purification and structural analysis," *J. Bacteriol.*, vol. 178, no. 1, pp. 175–183, 1996, doi: 10.1128/jb.178.1.175-183.1996.
- [73] J. L. Lister and A. R. Horswill, "Staphylococcus aureus biofilms: Recent developments in biofilm dispersal," *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.*, vol. 4, no. DEC, pp. 1–9, 2014, doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2014.00178.
- [74] K. L. Frank and R. Patel, "Poly-N-acetylglucosamine is not a major component of the extracellular matrix in biofilms formed by icaADBC-positive Staphylococcus lugdunensis isolates," *Infect. Immun.*, vol. 75, no. 10, pp. 4728–4742, 2007, doi: 10.1128/IAI.00640-07.
- [75] K. M. Conlon, H. Humphreys, and J. P. O'Gara, "icaR encodes a transcriptional repressor involved in environmental regulation of ica operon expression and biofilm formation in Staphylococcus epidermidis," *J. Bacteriol.*, vol. 184, no. 16, pp. 4400– 4408, 2002, doi: 10.1128/JB.184.16.4400-4408.2002.
- [76] K. E. Beenken, J. S. Blevins, and M. S. Smeltzer, "Mutation of sarA in Staphylococcus aureus limits biofilm formation," *Infect. Immun.*, vol. 71, no. 7, pp. 4206–4211, 2003, doi: 10.1128/IAI.71.7.4206-4211.2003.
- [77] S. J. Pamp, D. Frees, S. Engelmann, M. Hecker, and H. Ingmer, "Spx is a global effector impacting stress tolerance and biofilm formation in Staphylococcus aureus," *J. Bacteriol.*, vol. 188, no. 13, pp. 4861–4870, 2006, doi: 10.1128/JB.00194-06.
- [78] D. Cue *et al.*, "Rbf promotes biofilm formation by Staphylococcus aureus via repression of icaR, a negative regulator of icaADBC," *J. Bacteriol.*, vol. 191, no. 20, pp. 6363–6373, 2009, doi: 10.1128/JB.00913-09.
- [79] E. O'Neill *et al.*, "Association between methicillin susceptibility and biofilm regulation in Staphylococcus aureus isolates from device-related infections," *J. Clin. Microbiol.*, vol. 45, no. 5, pp. 1379–1388, 2007, doi: 10.1128/JCM.02280-06.
- [80] C. Cucarella, C. Solano, J. Valle, B. Amorena, I. Lasa, and J. R. Penadés, "Bap, a Staphylococcus aureus surface protein involved in biofilm formation," *J. Bacteriol.*, vol. 183, no. 9, pp. 2888–2896, 2001, doi: 10.1128/JB.183.9.2888-2896.2001.
- [81] K. C. Rice *et al.*, "The cidA murein hydrolase regulator contributes to DNA release and biofilm development in Staphylococcus aureus," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 104, no. 19, pp. 8113–8118, 2007, doi: 10.1073/pnas.0610226104.
- [82] R. M. Corrigan, D. Rigby, P. Handley, and T. J. Foster, "The role of Staphylococcus aureus surface protein SasG in adherence and biofilm formation," *Microbiology*, vol. 153, no. 8, pp. 2435–2446, 2007, doi: 10.1099/mic.0.2007/006676-0.
- [83] E. O'Neill *et al.*, "A novel Staphylococcus aureus biofilm phenotype mediated by the fibronectin-binding proteins, FnBPA and FnBPB," *J. Bacteriol.*, vol. 190, no. 11, pp. 3835–3850, 2008, doi: 10.1128/JB.00167-08.
- [84] N. Merino *et al.*, "Protein A-mediated multicellular behavior in Staphylococcus aureus," *J. Bacteriol.*, vol. 191, no. 3, pp. 832–843, 2009, doi: 10.1128/JB.01222-08.
- [85] M. Christner *et al.*, "The giant extracellular matrix-binding protein of Staphylococcus epidermidis mediates biofilm accumulation and attachment to fibronectin," *Mol. Microbiol.*, vol. 75, no. 1, pp. 187–207, 2010, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2009.06981.x.
- [86] D. K. R. Karaolis, M. H. Rashid, R. Chythanya, W. Luo, M. Hyodo, and Y. Hayakawa, "c-di-GMP (3J-5J-Cyclic Diguanylic Acid) Inhibits," *Society*, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 1029–1038, 2005, doi: 10.1128/AAC.49.3.1029.
- [87] A. M. Monfared, A. Rezaei, F. Poursina, and J. Faghri, "Detection of genes involved in biofilm formation in MDR and XDR acinetobacter baumannii isolated from human clinical specimens in Isfahan, Iran," *Arch. Clin. Infect. Dis.*, vol. 14, no. 2, 2019, doi: 10.5812/archcid.85766.
- [88] E. C. Eze, H. Y. Chenia, and M. E. El Zowalaty, "Acinetobacter baumannii biofilms:

Effects of physicochemical factors, virulence, antibiotic resistance determinants, gene regulation, and future antimicrobial treatments," *Infect. Drug Resist.*, vol. 11, pp. 2277–2299, 2018, doi: 10.2147/IDR.S169894.

- [89] C. H. Yang, P. W. Su, S. H. Moi, and L. Y. Chuang, "Biofilm formation in Acinetobacter baumannii: Genotype-phenotype correlation," *Molecules*, vol. 24, no. 10, pp. 1–12, 2019, doi: 10.3390/molecules24101849.
- [90] Y. C. Wang *et al.*, "Biofilm formation is not associated with worse outcome in Acinetobacter baumannii bacteraemic pneumonia," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 2018, doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-25661-9.
- [91] H. Zeighami, F. Valadkhani, R. Shapouri, E. Samadi, and F. Haghi, "Virulence characteristics of multidrug resistant biofilm forming Acinetobacter baumannii isolated from intensive care unit patients," *BMC Infect. Dis.*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 1–9, 2019, doi: 10.1186/s12879-019-4272-0.
- [92] A. Howard, M. O'Donoghue, A. Feeney, and R. D. Sleator, "Acinetobacter baumannii An emerging opportunistic pathogen," *Virulence*, vol. 3, no. 3, p. 5, 2012, doi: 10.4161/viru.19700.
- [93] A. H. K. Choi, L. Slamti, F. Y. Avci, G. B. Pier, and T. Maira-Litrán, "The pgaABCD locus of Acinetobacter baumannii encodes the production of poly-β-1-6-N-acetylglucosamine, which is critical for biofilm formation," *J. Bacteriol.*, vol. 191, no. 19, pp. 5953–5963, 2009, doi: 10.1128/JB.00647-09.
- [94] K. M. Clemmer, R. A. Bonomo, and P. N. Rather, "Genetic analysis of surface motility in Acinetobacter baumannii," vol. 3, pp. 2534–2544, 2011, doi: 10.1099/mic.0.049791-0.
- [95] D. Anbazhagan, M. Mansor, G. O. S. Yan, M. Y. M. Yusof, H. Hassan, and S. D. Sekaran, "Detection of quorum sensing signal molecules and identification of an autoinducer synthase gene among biofilm forming clinical isolates of Acinetobacter spp," *PLoS One*, vol. 7, no. 7, 2012, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0036696.
- [96] Y. Dong, L. Wang, and L. Zhang, "Quorum-quenching microbial infections : mechanisms and implications," no. March, pp. 1201–1211, 2007, doi: 10.1098/rstb.2007.2045.
- [97] N. Høiby, "A short history of microbial biofilms and biofilm infections," *Apmis*, vol. 125, no. 4, pp. 272–275, 2017, doi: 10.1111/apm.12686.
- [98] R. M. Donlan, "Biofilms and device-associated infections," *Emerg. Infect. Dis.*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 277–281, 2001, doi: 10.3201/eid0702.010226.
- [99] A. Dongari-Bagtzoglou, "Pathogenesis of mucosal biofilm infections: Challenges and progress," *Expert Rev. Anti. Infect. Ther.*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 201–208, 2008, doi: 10.1586/14787210.6.2.201.
- [100] X. H. Li and J. H. Lee, "Antibiofilm agents: A new perspective for antimicrobial

strategy," J. Microbiol., vol. 55, no. 10, pp. 753–766, 2017, doi: 10.1007/s12275-017-7274-x.

- [101] C. Ragunath *et al.*, "HHS Public Access," vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 329–339, 2018, doi: 10.1111/omi.12126.Surface.
- [102] S. Nagata and M. Tanaka, "Programmed cell death and the immune system."
- [103] M. Kalia, V. K. Yadav, P. K. Singh, D. Sharma, S. S. Narvi, and V. Agarwal, "Exploring the impact of parthenolide as anti-quorum sensing and anti-biofilm agent against Pseudomonas aeruginosa," *Life Sci.*, vol. 199, no. 2017, pp. 96–103, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2018.03.013.
- [104] M. R. Parsek, D. L. Val, B. L. Hanzelka, J. E. Cronan, and E. P. Greenberg, "Acyl homoserine-lactone quorum-sensing signal generation," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 96, no. 8, pp. 4360–4365, 1999, doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.8.4360.
- [105] D. E. Payne, N. R. Martin, K. R. Parzych, A. H. Rickard, A. Underwood, and B. R. Boles, "Tannic acid inhibits staphylococcus aureus surface colonization in an isaA-dependent manner," *Infect. Immun.*, vol. 81, no. 2, pp. 496–504, 2013, doi: 10.1128/IAI.00877-12.
- [106] S. Bernardini, A. Tiezzi, V. Laghezza Masci, and E. Ovidi, "Natural products for human health: an historical overview of the drug discovery approaches," *Nat. Prod. Res.*, vol. 32, no. 16, pp. 1926–1950, 2018, doi: 10.1080/14786419.2017.1356838.
- [107] C. R. Pye, M. J. Bertin, R. S. Lokey, W. H. Gerwick, and R. G. Linington, "Retrospective analysis of natural products provides insights for future discovery trends," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 114, no. 22, pp. 5601–5606, 2017, doi: 10.1073/pnas.1614680114.
- [108] Woalder, "A New Golden Age of Natural Products Drug Discovery," Cell, vol. 163, no. 6, pp. 1297–1300, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.03.040.
- [109] T. Persson, T. H. Hansen, T. B. Rasmussen, M. E. Skindersø, M. Givskov, and J. Nielsen, "garlic," vol. 38, pp. 253–262, 2005.
- [110] J. Ouyang *et al.*, "Quercetin is an effective inhibitor of quorum sensing, biofilm formation and virulence factors in Pseudomonas aeruginosa," *J. Appl. Microbiol.*, vol. 120, no. 4, pp. 966–974, 2016, doi: 10.1111/jam.13073.
- [111] J. Labrecque, C. Bodet, F. Chandad, and D. Grenier, "Effects of a high-molecularweight cranberry fraction on growth, biofilm formation and adherence of Porphyromonas gingivalis," *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.*, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 439–443, 2006, doi: 10.1093/jac/dkl220.
- [112] G. González-Ortiz *et al.*, "New properties of wheat bran: Anti-biofilm activity and interference with bacteria quorum-sensing systems," *Environ. Microbiol.*, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 1346–1353, 2014, doi: 10.1111/1462-2920.12441.

- [113] H. Kazemian *et al.*, "Antibacterial, anti-swarming and anti-biofilm formation activities of Chamaemelum nobile against Pseudomonas aeruginosa," *Rev. Soc. Bras. Med. Trop.*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 432–436, 2015, doi: 10.1590/0037-8682-0065-2015.
- [114] T. Kawarai *et al.*, "Inhibition of Streptococcus mutans biofilm formation using extracts from Assam tea compared to green tea," *Arch. Oral Biol.*, vol. 68, pp. 73– 82, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.archoralbio.2016.04.002.
- [115] H. Rahman *et al.*, "Novel anti-infective compounds from marine bacteria," *Mar. Drugs*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 498–518, 2010, doi: 10.3390/md8030498.
- [116] K. S. Singh and M. S. Majik, Pyrrole-Derived Alkaloids of Marine Sponges and Their Biological Properties, 1st ed., vol. 62. Elsevier B.V., 2019.
- [117] M. Laport, O. Santos, and G. Muricy, "Marine Sponges: Potential Sources of New Antimicrobial Drugs," *Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol.*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 86–105, 2009, doi: 10.2174/138920109787048625.
- [118] S. A. Rogers and C. Melander, "Construction and screening of a 2-aminoimidazole library identifies a small molecule capable of inhibiting and dispersing bacterial biofilms across order, class, and phylum," *Angew. Chemie - Int. Ed.*, vol. 47, no. 28, pp. 5229–5231, 2008, doi: 10.1002/anie.200800862.
- [119] M. Klinger-strobel, O. Makarewicz, and M. Pletz, "Screening for bio-active and antibiofilm substances of Bacillus and Paenibacillus species," no. May, 2012.
- [120] S. M. Alasil, R. Omar, S. Ismail, and M. Y. Yusof, "Antibiofilm activity, compound characterization, and acute toxicity of extract from a novel bacterial species of paenibacillus," *Int. J. Microbiol.*, vol. 2014, 2014, doi: 10.1155/2014/649420.
- [121] K. W. Waldetoft, J. Gurney, J. Lachance, P. A. Hoskisson, and S. P. Brown, "Evolving antibiotics against resistance: a potential platform for natural product development?," *MBio*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 1–10, 2019, doi: 10.1128/mBio.02946-19.
- [122] A. van der Meij, S. F. Worsley, M. I. Hutchings, and G. P. van Wezel, "Chemical ecology of antibiotic production by actinomycetes," *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.*, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 392–416, 2017, doi: 10.1093/femsre/fux005.
- [123] M. Goodfellow and S. T. Williams, "Ecology of Actinomycetes," Annu. Rev. Microbiol., vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 189–216, 1983, doi: 10.1146/annurev.mi.37.100183.001201.
- [124] P. Nithyanand, R. Thenmozhi, J. Rathna, S. Karutha Pandian, and U. Römling, "Inhibition of streptococcus pyogenes biofilm formation by coral-associated actinomycetes," *Curr. Microbiol.*, vol. 60, no. 6, pp. 454–460, 2010, doi: 10.1007/s00284-009-9564-y.
- [125] K. Goshi *et al.*, "Cloning and analysis of the telomere and terminal inverted repeat of the linear chromosome of Streptomyces griseus," *J. Bacteriol.*, vol. 184, no. 12, pp.

3411-3415, 2002, doi: 10.1128/JB.184.12.3411-3415.2002.

- [126] L. S. Singh, H. Sharma, and N. C. Talukdar, "Production of potent antimicrobial agent by actinomycete, Streptomyces sannanensis strain SU118 isolated from phoomdi in Loktak Lake of Manipur, India," *BMC Microbiol.*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 1– 13, 2014, doi: 10.1186/s12866-014-0278-3.
- [127] R. E. de Lima Procópio, I. R. da Silva, M. K. Martins, J. L. de Azevedo, and J. M. de Araújo, "Antibiotics produced by Streptomyces," *Brazilian J. Infect. Dis.*, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 466–471, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.bjid.2012.08.014.
- [128] L. Mellouli, R. Ben Ameur-Mehdi, S. Sioud, M. Salem, and S. Bejar, "Isolation, purification and partial characterization of antibacterial activities produced by a newly isolated Streptomyces sp. US24 strain," *Res. Microbiol.*, vol. 154, no. 5, pp. 345–352, 2003, doi: 10.1016/S0923-2508(03)00077-9.
- [129] M. S. Ahmad, A. O. El-Gendy, R. R. Ahmed, H. M. Hassan, H. M. El-Kabbany, and A. G. Merdash, "Exploring the antimicrobial and antitumor potentials of Streptomyces sp. AGM12-1 isolated from Egyptian soil," *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 8, no. MAR, pp. 1–11, 2017, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00438.
- [130] K. F. Chater, "Streptomyces inside-out: A new perspective on the bacteria that provide us with antibiotics," *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.*, vol. 361, no. 1469, pp. 761–768, 2006, doi: 10.1098/rstb.2005.1758.
- [131] J. Bérdy, "Thoughts and facts about antibiotics: Where we are now and where we are heading," J. Antibiot. (Tokyo)., vol. 65, no. 8, pp. 385–395, 2012, doi: 10.1038/ja.2012.27.
- [132] Y. Takahashi, "Exploitation of New Microbial Resources for Bioactive Compounds and Discovery of New Actinomycetes," *Actinomycetologica*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 54– 61, 2004, doi: 10.3209/saj.18\_54.
- [133] S. R. Park *et al.*, "Discovery of cahuitamycins as biofilm inhibitors derived from a convergent biosynthetic pathway," *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 7, pp. 1–11, 2016, doi: 10.1038/ncomms10710.
- [134] N. Suzuki *et al.*, "A compound inhibits biofilm formation of staphylococcus aureus from streptomyces," *Biol. Pharm. Bull.*, vol. 38, no. 6, pp. 889–892, 2015, doi: 10.1248/bpb.b15-00053.
- [135] D. E. Waturangi, B. S. Rahayu, K. Y. Lalu, and N. Mulyono, "Malaysian Journal of Microbiology against Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria," vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 291–299, 2016.
- [136] Q. Yin *et al.*, "Butenolide, a Marine-Derived Broad-Spectrum Antibiofilm Agent Against Both Gram-Positive and Gram-Negative Pathogenic Bacteria," *Mar. Biotechnol.*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 88–98, 2019, doi: 10.1007/s10126-018-9861-1.
- [137] R. Papa et al., "Anti-biofilm activities from marine cold adapted bacteria against

staphylococci and Pseudomonas aeruginosa," *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 6, no. DEC, pp. 1–10, 2015, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.01333.

- [138] L. Grassi, G. Maisetta, S. Esin, and G. Batoni, "Combination strategies to enhance the efficacy of antimicrobial peptides against bacterial biofilms," *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 8, no. DEC, pp. 1–8, 2017, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.02409.
- [139] S. A. Rogers, R. W. Huigens, J. Cavanagh, and C. Melander, "Synergistic effects between conventional antibiotics and 2-aminoimidazole-derived antibiofilm agents," *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.*, vol. 54, no. 5, pp. 2112–2118, 2010, doi: 10.1128/AAC.01418-09.
- [140] L. Segev-Zarko, R. Saar-Dover, V. Brumfeld, M. L. Mangoni, and Y. Shai,
  "Mechanisms of biofilm inhibition and degradation by antimicrobial peptides," *Biochem. J.*, vol. 468, no. 2, pp. 259–270, 2015, doi: 10.1042/BJ20141251.
- [141] H. Lade *et al.*, "Biofilm Formation by Staphylococcus aureus Clinical Isolates is Differentially Affected by Glucose and Sodium Chloride Supplemented Culture Media," *J. Clin. Med.*, vol. 8, no. 11, p. 1853, 2019, doi: 10.3390/jcm8111853.
- [142] I. Classical, "Liquid-liquid (partition) chromatography."
- [143] R. Schlaberg, K. E. Simmon, and M. A. Fisher, "A Systematic Approach for Discovering Novel, Clinically Relevant Bacteria," vol. 18, no. 3, 2012.
- [144] S. D. Stowe, J. J. Richards, A. T. Tucker, R. Thompson, C. Melander, and J. Cavanagh, "Anti-biofilm compounds derived from marine sponges," *Mar. Drugs*, vol. 9, no. 10, pp. 2010–2035, 2011, doi: 10.3390/md9102010.
- [145] L. Friedman and R. Kolter, "Genes involved in matrix formation in Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA14 biofilms," *Mol. Microbiol.*, vol. 51, no. 3, pp. 675–690, 2004, doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2003.03877.x.
- [146] A. M. Salam and C. L. Quave, "Targeting Virulence in Staphylococcus aureus by Chemical Inhibition of the Accessory Gene Regulator System In Vivo," *mSphere*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 1–12, 2018, doi: 10.1128/msphere.00500-17.
- [147] K. Saipriya, C. H. Swathi, K. S. Ratnakar, and V. Sritharan, "Quorum-sensing system in Acinetobacter baumannii: a potential target for new drug development," J. Appl. Microbiol., vol. 128, no. 1, pp. 15–27, 2020, doi: 10.1111/jam.14330.
- [148] V. Sanda *et al.*, "Lipoxygenase-Quercetin Interaction: A Kinetic Study Through Biochemical and Spectroscopy Approaches," *Biochem. Test.*, no. 170, 2012, doi: 10.5772/35782.